

Georgia Southern University Digital Commons@Georgia Southern

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Graduate Studies, Jack N. Averitt College of

Spring 2017

Reducing Substance Abuse Stigma in Employment Application

Timothy W. Curran

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.georgiasouthern.edu/etd

Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Curran, Timothy W., "Reducing Substance Abuse Stigma in Employment Application" (2017). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1539. https://digitalcommons.georgiasouthern.edu/etd/1539

This dissertation (open access) is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies, Jack N. Averitt College of at Digital Commons@Georgia Southern. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons@Georgia Southern. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@georgiasouthern.edu.

REDUCING SUBSTANCE ABUSE STIGMA IN EMPLOYMENT APPLICATION

by

TIMOTHY CURRAN

(Under the Direction of Thresa Yancey)

ABSTRACT

A history of substance use and having a history of legal charges can be a barrier to employment. Available research shows individuals with a criminal history of substance related charges have greater difficulty obtaining employment due to the presence of substance abuse stigma and criminal history stigma. Research also shows that employers with higher levels of fundamentalism and conservativism are more likely to negatively evaluate applicants with a criminal history of substance charges. Furthermore, available research demonstrates employers in rural areas are more likely to deny employment to an individual with a legal history of substance charges based upon higher rates of familiarity within the community. Stigma research shows personal contact with a stigmatized population can reduce stigma. With this in mind, this study set out to determine if changing the response on the legal history section of an employment application would have an effect on mock employer's evaluations of job applications. In order to examine this, 458 participants were randomly assigned to read an employment application in one of three conditions. The only difference in the applications was the legal history section, which varied as "none," "possession of a controlled substance," or "will discuss." Participants also completed measures of substance use stigma, conservativism, and fundamentalism. Further, participants' geographic region (rural vs. non-rural) was examined. Results showed the only significant predictor of not granting an interview was the presence of a legal charge. The findings demonstrated listing 'will discuss' on the legal history section reduces the chances of obtaining an interview. Implications of the current study indicate that personal values or rural status should not be a main focus of intervention when trying to reduce stigma for individuals with a legal history of substance charges. Limitations of the study include lack of a robust manipulation check and limited risk in granting an interview. Future studies should focus on research designs that incorporate a limited number of available interview opportunities, and examine whether other legal charges would have similar effects in employment application.

INDEX WORDS: Stigma, Substance use, Employment, Rural, Fundamentalism, Conservativism

REDUCING SUBSTANCE ABUSE STIGMA IN EMPLOYMENT APPLICATION

by

TIMOTHY CURRAN

B.S., Kennesaw State University, 2011

M.S., Georgia Southern University, 2015

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Georgia Southern University in Partial

Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PSYCHOLOGY

STATESBORO, GEORGIA

© 2017

TIMOTHY W CURRAN

All Rights Reserved

REDUCING SUBSTANCE ABUSE STIGMA IN EMPLOYMENT APPLICATION

by

TIMOTHY CURRAN

Major Professor: Thresa Yancey Committee: Amy Hackney Jessica Brooks

Electronic Version Approved: May 2017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	5
Chapter	
1 INTRODUCTION	6
Statement of the Problem	6
2 LITERATURE REVIEW	13
Previous Substance Use Population	13
Substance Use and Mental Illness Stigma	14
Legal History Stigma	
Unemployment	
Hiring Decisions	22
"Ban the Box"	26
Other Influences in Hiring	
Rural Populations	
Fundamentalism	29
Conservatism	
Summary	
Hypotheses	34
3 METHOD.	
Participants	
Procedure	37
Materials	

Measures	38
Community Attitudes Toward Substance Abusers Scale (CASA)	38
Revised Religious Fundamentalism Scale (RRF)	39
Political Conservatism Scale (PCS)	39
Demographic Questionnaire	39
4 RESULTS	40
Preliminary Analyses	40
Decision to Grant Interview by Application Condition	41
Confidence to Grant Interview	43
Rural Participants Decision With Presence of Legal Charge	43
Decision Predicted by Condition, Conservatism, Fundamentalism, and Stigm	1a44
5 DISCUSSION	46
Overview	46
Changing the Legal History Language	46
Rural Differences	48
Application Condition, Substance Use Stigma, Conservatism, and	
Fundamentalism	49
Limitations	50
Theoretical Implications and Future Directions	52
Conclusion	54
REFERENCES	56
APPENDICES	
A Converte Let Description	70

А	Sample Job Description	.7	3
---	------------------------	----	---

B Participant Questionnaire	74
C Job Application (No Legal Charge)	
D Job Application (Legal Charge)	
E Job Application (Will Discuss)	
F Demographic Questionnaire	

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 1: Intercorrelations, Means, Standard Deviations, and Standard Error for the Scores on the	
CASA, RRF, PCS, and Rural Area)
Table 2: Results of Chi-square Test of Homogeneity for Decision to Grant Interview by	
Application Condition)
Table 3: Chi-square Test of Association for Decision to Grant Interview by Rural Status9	1
Table 4: Binomial Logistic Regression with Application Conditions, CASA, RRF, and PCS	
predicting the Decision to Say No to an Interview	2

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Statement of the Problem

Substance abuse is a widespread problem with long lasting consequences. According to the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Administration (SAMHSA; 2013), an estimated 23.9 million people over the age of 12 were classified as having a Substance Use Disorder in 2012. It is likely additional persons with substance abuse disorders went unidentified. Of these individuals, SAMHSA (2013) identified the highest rates of substance abuse among individuals between 18 to 25 years old.

Drug and alcohol treatment is one of the most commonly identified methods for discontinuing the use of substances. Of the 23.9 million individuals identified as having a substance use disorder in 2012, 2.5 million received treatment (SAMHSA, 2013). Treatment for substance use disorders can involve behavioral interventions, medication management, or a combination of the two (National Institute of Mental Health [NIMH], 2012). Completion of substance use treatment is linked to improved health outcomes and decreased involvement with the criminal justice system (Cao, Marsh, Shin, & Andrews, 2011; Garnick et al., 2014).

The American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM; 2015) provides a comprehensive definition for substance dependence: addiction is defined as a disease affecting brain circuitry related to rewards, motivation, and memory. The ASAM (2015) definition notes dysfunction in brain circuitry "leads to characteristic biological, psychological, social and spiritual manifestations" (para. 1). Someone who is in active addiction is characterized by the inability to consistently abstain from substance use, experiencing craving for substances, having diminished behavioral control, being unable to recognize serious problems related to behavior and relationships, and experiencing inappropriate emotional responses (ASAM, 2015). Recovery is

defined by ASAM (2015) as the action taken by an individual to address aforementioned areas affected by the disease of addiction. Recovery is most commonly associated with abstinence, which is the discontinuation of the use and pursuit of substances (ASAM, 2015).

Persons who use substances are a stigmatized population (Corrigan & Kleinlein, 2005). Stigma is often defined as the reduction of an individual's human qualities based upon his or her involvement with a negative social category (Goffman, 1963). Individuals in recovery continue to be associated with individuals who actively use substances, which can be problematic. A stigmatized individual may be viewed as flawed in significant ways (Luoma, O'Hair, Kohlenberg, Hayes, & Fletcher, 2010). Stigma can lead to discrimination which limits individuals when seeking employment (Link, 1987; Penn & Martin, 1998; Penn, Ritchie, Francis, Combs, & Martin, 2002), attaining housing (Luoma et al., 2010; Page, 1983), building social relationships (Perlick et al., 2001), developing positive self-esteem (Corrigan & Watson, 2002; Link, Struening, Neese-Todd, Asmussen, & Phelan, 2002; Wright, Gronfein, & Owens, 2000), and maintaining quality of life (Luoma et al., 2010; Rosenfield, 1997). When discrimination has a negative impact on the ability to gain employment, it creates carryover effects related to other areas. The inability to obtain employment results in a lack of finances thwarting attainment of adequate housing. In addition, unemployment contributes to low selfesteem (Chen, Marks, & Bersani, 1994). Low self-esteem inhibits new social relationships and may damage existing relationships (Sciangula & Morry, 2009). All of these factors contribute to lower quality of life. While stigma affects each of these areas distinctly, it is possible problems are compounded by the inability to gain adequate employment.

In general, stigma falls into three distinct categories, including: enacted, perceived, and self-stigma (Luoma et al., 2010). Enacted stigma is the direct bias against persons based upon

their involvement with a particular group, perceived stigma refers to how members of a stigmatized group perceive the attitudes of the general population about their group, and self-stigma involves an individual's personal thoughts and feelings about being a part of a stigmatized group (Luoma et al., 2010). With regard to employment, individuals in recovery are likely subjected to enacted stigma. Once potential employers are aware of the history of substance abuse, through reporting of legal consequences related to substance use on employment applications, they may attribute stereotyped traits of an active user of substances onto the individual in recovery, placing the applicant at a disadvantage (Van Olphen, Eliason, Freudenberg, & Barnes, 2009). While the other forms of stigma likely play a part in the limiting of employment options, enacted stigma is the one element most outside the applicant's control.

Heijnders and Van Der Meij (2006) outline five levels or strategies often employed in stigma reduction: Intrapersonal, Interpersonal, Organizational/Institutional, Community, and Governmental/Structural. The authors note most research relates to stigma reduction strategies with few studies on the efficacy of the overarching frameworks used to reduce stigma. Heijnders and Van Der Meij (2006) note most effective approaches are individualized (intrapersonal/interpersonal) and community approaches, and suggest it is beneficial to start at the individualized (e.g., promoting activities where a person has the opportunity to interact directly with a stigmatized population) and community (e.g., conducting community outreach at public events promoting stigma education) levels and have affected individuals (i.e., persons who received stigma-reduction education) assist in the production of reduction programs at other levels. While there are effective efforts at reducing stigma related to substance use disorders at an individual level (e.g., group-based interventions and vocational counseling), there appears to be little effect on the stigmatizing attitudes of the general population (Livingston, Milne, Fang, & Amari, 2012). This is likely due to a number of factors. The 'War on Drugs' was first initiated by President Nixon in 1971 (Drug Policy Alliance, 2015). This campaign was continued by First Lady Nancy Regan in the 1980s which portrayed individuals with Substance Use Disorders negatively, as an 'enemy' (Mackey-Kallis & Hahn, 1991). The 'Just say No' slogan further solidified the public's opinion that addicted individuals lack the will power or moral fortitude to stop using drugs (Mackey-Kallis & Hahn, 1991). While the message is now altered, it is possible employers making hiring decisions are influenced by these messages and these beliefs may still resonate (Mackey-Kallis & Hahn, 1991). However, it is also possible the main barrier to an Organizational/Institutional strategy is the lack of willing participants to support reform. As noted, substance use carries stigma. Therefore, many people with previous difficulties with substances may choose to keep their struggles private.

Addiction is so wide spread it has likely touched everyone in some form or fashion. Many people have a friend or family member who struggled with substance dependence at some point in his or her life (McCully & Williams, 2013). However, to speak out about substance abuse stigma could highlight the fact the individual is associated with substance dependence, and this could be considered a weakness (McCully & Williams, 2013). The reluctance to speak out about substance abuse stigma due to fear of association may be why there is very little movement to systematically reduce the stigma (McCully & Williams, 2013).

Since large scale approaches to reduce substance use stigma (e.g., mass media campaigns, directly targeted educational campaigns) will be costly and may take long periods of time to be implemented, other methods to reduce stigma related to substance use need to be explored. Research shows stigma can be reduced though contact with a stigmatized group, although the effects may diminish after time (Stubbs, 2014). However, this opportunity is not provided in a job seeking scenario if the applicant is unable to obtain an interview. Individuals in recovery often have a criminal history, given the illegal nature of substance use (Van Olphen et al., 2009). When a potential employer views an application including a substance-related charge, it is likely the stigma related to those who use substances is activated (Corrigan & Kleinlein, 2005). By activating the stereotype, the potential employer associates negative attributes with the potential applicant, which prevents the applicant from moving on to the interview stage of the hiring process. Therefore, alternative methods are needed to provide the recovery applicant an opportunity to physically meet with the potential employer. Physical contact with the employer may help reduce stigma associated with substance abuse (Stubbs, 2014). However, if the process is halted before contact can occur, there is little chance the individual will have the opportunity to reduce stigma through personal contact.

An individualized approach may be more efficacious at reducing enacted stigma on a level meaningful and beneficial to someone in recovery. An individualized approach is when a stigmatized population focuses on the reduction of experienced stigma by trying to reduce the stigmatizing attitudes of those they encounter (Heijnders & Van Der Meij, 2006). While this approach is not ideal because it places the burden of responsibility on the stigmatized group, it may be an opportunity for a meaningful reduction in enacted stigma. Since the stigma is first activated by the job application, this is the logical place to attempt to intervene.

We proposed changing the language in the "legal history" section of an employment application will influence a potential employer's decision to grant an interview. Specifically, by changing the legal history information to "will discuss," as opposed to listing a specific charge, an applicant may prevent stigma related to substance use from activating in the potential employer. However, stigma associated with legal history would remain because the applicant is required to submit an honest application. It is possible potential employers may envision legal charges which are considered more serious (e.g., rape, murder). Therefore, it was unknown whether changing the language on the "legal history" section of the application would help or hinder an applicant with a substance use legal history to move to the next stage of the hiring process where there is an opportunity to reduce enacted stigma through personal contact.

In addition to enacted stigma, it was hypothesized other prohibitive factors were at play for a recovery applicant with a legal history. Fundamentalist religious groups often take a very firm stance against substance abuse (Grasmick, Cochran, Bursik, & Kimpel, 1993). Therefore, the presence of legal charges related to substance use was hypothesized to have an influence on how an applicant is perceived dependent upon the presence of fundamentalist beliefs held by the employer. This stance may present as an additional barrier toward obtaining an interview. This study included measures to determine if a fundamentalist stance is a prohibitive factor.

Furthermore, individuals with very conservative political views tend to be more rigid regarding substance use policy (e.g., harsher sentences for substance use charges; Grasmick et al., 1993). It was hypothesized the presence of a legal charge related to substance use may impact the way an employer with conservative political views rates the applicant. These views may be additional factors preventing an applicant from progressing through the hiring process. This study included measures to examine whether or not strong conservative views are a prohibitive factor for job applicants in recovery with a legal history.

Finally, people in the rural south are often described as having strong fundamentalist and conservative views (Herek, 2002). It would be beneficial to understand whether this is accurate, and if it creates difficulty for a recovery applicant. In other words, if those with fundamentalist beliefs and conservative views are found to be more stigmatizing toward individuals in recovery,

and these factors are found multiplied in rural areas, it may be very difficult for recovery applicants in a rural area to obtain a job interview. In addition, research shows high levels of familiarity within the rural community often make it difficult for individuals with a previous criminal history to gain employment within a rural community (Wodhal, 2006). This study sought to examine if listing a substance use charge (vs. an unknown legal charge) makes it more difficult to obtain an interview and additionally asked about geographic location of participants to examine rural vs. non-rural differences.

In summary, the current study examined whether or not a change in language on an application for employment makes an interview more likely for an applicant with substance related legal charges ("recovery applicant"). Furthermore, we explored whether fundamentalist beliefs and conservative views serve as barriers to gaining interviews for recovery applicants. Finally, we examined whether these factors are more prevalent in rural populations, and if obtaining an interview in a rural area would be less likely for a recovery applicant.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

Previous Substance Use Population

According to the SAMHSA (2013), in 2012 there were approximately 23.9 million Americans aged 12 or older who had a Substance Use Disorder. Illicit drug users are defined as individuals who used any illicit substance (marijuana/hashish, heroin, cocaine (including crack), inhalants, hallucinogens, or prescription-type psychotherapeutics (tranquilizers, pain relievers, stimulants, and sedatives) used nonmedically) during the month prior to being surveyed (SAMHSA, 2013). . Kessler et al. (1994) found substance use disorders were the most highly prevalent disorder in a large-scale epidemiologic study examining prevalence of mental health disorders.

In 2012, 2.5 million Americans received treatment in inpatient hospital, drug or alcohol rehabilitation center, or mental health center programs (SAMHSA, 2013). The use of illegal substances often carries legal ramifications, with 1,552,432 individuals arrested for drug abuse violations in 2012 (United States Department of Justice [USDOJ], 2013). In 2012 there were 99,426 individuals in federal prisons and 222,738 individuals in state prisons for drug related charges (Carson & Golinelli, 2013). Of the individuals serving time in state prisons, 55,013 had convictions solely related to possession of a controlled substance (Carson & Golinelli, 2013). Not all individuals arrested for drug-related charges are incarcerated. Many receive sentences of parole or probation in lieu of prison time, with approximately 985,694 people on probation and approximately 280,882 people on parole for drug-related charges (Bonczar & Maruschak, 2013). While these numbers reflect active involvement with the legal system in 2012, many more people have completed their sentences but still have a criminal record. Although the exact number of people who received drug related charges over the past two decades is impossible to

determine due to lack of records, one unconfirmed report indicated it is approximately 15 to 20 million Americans (Smith, 2007). The National Employment Law Project (n.d.), reports 70 million people in the United States have an arrest or conviction record. In addition, Mumola and Karberg (2006) reported 17% of state and 18% of federal inmates committed their crimes to obtain money for drugs.

Substance Use and Mental Illness Stigma

The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fifth edition (DSM-5, 2013) identifies substance use disorders as mental illnesses. Identifying substance use disorders as mental illnesses is not recent, with evidence of classification tracing back to the first edition of the DSM in 1952. According to the DSM-5 (2013), the essential feature of disorders related to substance abuse is the continued use of a substance despite problematic symptoms which are cognitive, behavioral, and physiological in nature and directly related to the use of substances. There are ten classes of substances listed in the DSM-5: alcohol, caffeine, cannabis, hallucinogens, inhalants, opioids, sedatives, stimulants, tobacco, and other drugs.

It is known persons with mental illness experience stigma (Corrigan & Kleinlein, 2005; McGinty, Goldman, Pescosolido, & Barry, 2015; Whitley & Campbell, 2014). Stigmatization is linked with high degrees of marginalization and discrimination, and can contribute to suicidality (Corrigan, Markowitz, & Watson, 2004; Rüsch, Zlati, Black, & Thornicroft, 2014; Thornicroft, Mehta, Brohan, & Kassam, 2010). Individuals who experience stigma related to mental illness often have difficulty obtaining employment providing a living wage and finding accommodations which are suitable to the individual's needs (Corrigan, Larson, Watson, Boyle, & Barr, 2006). Corrigan and Kleinlein (2005) outline a model which illustrates how the factors often accompanying mental illness (i.e., symptoms, skill deficits, abnormal appearance, and diagnostic labels) serve as signals to the general public to activate stigma, which may lead to discrimination.

While Luoma et al. (2010) characterize stigma as including three distinct categories (i.e., enacted, perceived, and self-stigma), Corrigan and Kleinlein (2005) outline a more general framework for stigma. Corrigan and Kleinlein (2005) state stigma falls into two general categories: public stigma and self-stigma. Self-stigma involves negative internalized beliefs about the self as a result of being part of a stigmatized group, while public stigma is negative beliefs about a stigmatized group held by the majority population. Corrigan and Kleinlein (2005) identify three basic components involved in both categories: stereotypes, prejudice, and discrimination. Stereotypes are defined as beliefs about overgeneralized individuals based upon group categorization (Augoustinos, Ahrens, & Innes, 1994; Esses, Haddock, & Zanna, 1993). The use of stereotypes allows individuals to categorize information about others with cognitive efficiency. While this may be a cognitively efficient way to categorize information, it can result in negative consequences. The use of stereotypes can often lead to prejudice. Prejudice is the affective response to the endorsement of a stereotype (Corrigan, Backs, Green, Diwan, & Penn, 2001). The feeling associated with the response (i.e., prejudice) can be either positive or negative. Prejudice can lead to discrimination, which is an action by an individual based on prejudiced feelings (Corrigan et al., 2001). Regarding the mentally ill, common stereotyped beliefs include they are unpredictable, dangerous, violent, incompetent, and self-destructive (Klin & Lemish, 2008). While stereotypical beliefs are essentially internal cognitions, they can lead to behavioral reactions in the form of discrimination (Corrigan & Kleinlein, 2005; Crocker, Major, & Steele, 1998). Prejudice toward the mentally ill can have many manifestations, but is often seen as anger or fear (Corrigan & Kleinlein, 2005). When prejudiced feelings are based in

anger, discrimination can result where traditional forms of health care may be withheld or passed off to the criminal justice system (Corrigan, 2000; Corrigan & Kleinlein, 2005). When fear is involved, employers may avoid hiring individuals with mental illness to avoid having contact (Corrigan et al., 2001; Corrigan & Kleinlein, 2005). Corrigan and Watson (2002) note individuals with mental illness have two primary goals negatively impacted by public stigma: the ability to obtain sustainable employment and the ability to obtain suitable housing conditions.

Individuals with substance use disorders are often treated as criminals or lacking morals rather than as individuals with legitimate health concerns, even when they have no criminal history (Radcliffe & Stevens, 2008; Room, 2005). The use of illegal substances is often perceived as being more negative compared to the use of legal substances (Cunningham, Sogell, Freedman, & Sobell, 1994; Room, 2005). Stigma related to substance use is exacerbated by the criminalization of substance use, which increases discrimination and marginalization of those who use substances (Ahern, Stuber, & Galea, 2007). Additionally, because individuals with substance use disorders are perceived as having control over their condition, they are likely to be blamed for their illness (Albrecht, Walker, & Levy, 1982; Corrigan, Kuwabara, & O'Shaughnessy, 2009; Schomerus et al., 2011).

According to Rasinski, Woll, and Cooke (2005) substance use disorders can exist without the presence of other psychiatric disorders, which makes them more likely to be perceived by the public not as medical in nature, but as a choice of the individual. Due to this perception, theories of stigmatization place substance use disorders as having more likelihood of stigmatization compared to other psychiatric/mental health disorders (Corrigan et al., 2001; Weiner, 1995), which was demonstrated in a study by Link, Phelan, Stueve, and Pescosolido (1999). Individuals with substance use disorders were perceived more negatively than individuals with different psychiatric disorders. However, substance use disorders often co-occur with other psychiatric disorders and are associated with crime and violence (Rasinski, Woll, & Cooke, 2005). The presence of other disorders and criminal history increases experienced stigma (Rasinski et al., 2005). The stigma experienced by individuals who use substances often leads to discrimination which results in limited access to resources and inadequate access to treatment (Rasinski et al., 2005; White, 1998).

Self-stigma, as well as external stigma, negatively affects individuals who use substances (Rasinski et al., 2005). According to Mead (1934), theories of symbolic interaction maintain identity is constructed from an individual's place, situation, and role within society in addition to the way someone is perceived and treated by others. The negative view from society toward an individual who uses substances can lead that individual to have a negative view of him or herself (Steele, 1997). Because the stigmatizing societal views of addiction were likely established within an individual before the beginning of substance use, they are more likely to lead to internalization of the stigma (Rasinski et al., 2005; Williams, 1976). The self-stigma experienced by individuals who use substances can lead to feelings of unworthiness, low self-esteem, decreased confidence, loss of hope, guilt, questioning of fundamental goals, and difficulty identifying in roles other than a person who uses substances (Corrigan & Lundin, 2001).

Stigma toward individuals with substance use disorders is pervasive and is even found among physicians treating individuals with these disorders (Institute of Medicine, Committee on Crossing the Quality Chasm, 2006). A study by Meltzer et al. (2013) measured the attitudes of 128 internal medicine residents toward individuals with substance use disorders. The researchers compared attitudes toward patients with substance use disorders to those with heartburn or pneumonia and found residents demonstrated less regard for patients with alcoholism and dependence on narcotic pain medication compared to patients with pneumonia and heartburn. Furthermore, Van Boekel, Brouwers, Van Weeghel, and Garretsen (2013) conducted a metaanalysis investigating stigma among health professionals toward patients with substance use disorders. The analysis included 28 studies conducted in five countries. Results indicate health professionals' attitudes toward substance use patients were generally negative, with reduced feelings of empowerment in the patients, and were correlated with less successful treatment outcomes. These studies demonstrate substance abuse stigma is not only present within the general population, but also among professionals trained to treat those with these disorders.

Legal History Stigma

The use of many types of substances is illegal and often results in legal ramifications. In addition to stigma related to substance use, there is stigma related to the presence of legal charges which results in additional challenges related to gaining employment for those with a history of substance use (Turney, Lee, & Comfort, 2013).

Pager (2003) notes the presence of a criminal history can result in social exclusion and discrimination. He describes a criminal history as a "negative credential," which distinctly differentiates someone from the rest of a social group. According to Pager (2003), this negative credential can provide a seemingly more legitimate basis for differentiation. Pager (2003) investigated the effect of a criminal history on employment applications submitted to a variety of entry-level positions using Caucasian and African American applicants. The study gathered qualitative and quantitative data from 350 employers and measured the number of callbacks received by the applicants. A significant effect for criminal record was found such that the presence of a criminal record resulted in fewer callbacks from employers. There was also a significant difference for race, where African American applicants received fewer callbacks than

Caucasians. In fact, African Americans without criminal histories received fewer callbacks than Caucasian applicants with criminal histories. This study demonstrates that not only does a criminal history stigma significantly impact the ability to progress in the application process, but additional factors can have a multiplicative effect on discriminatory events. This suggests the presence of a legal charge related to substance use may doubly impact the employer's willingness to grant an interview, due to the combined stigma related to substance use and legal history.

To determine if criminal record discrimination was linked with psychological distress, Turney, Lee, and Comfort (2013) conducted a study using a sample of men who were recently released from prison. The researchers found individuals who experienced discrimination as a result of possessing a criminal record were significantly more likely to report psychological distress compared to a control sample. In addition, the authors found racial discrimination was independent of criminal record discrimination and both had a negative impact on psychological distress. These findings serve to further illustrate criminal history stigma is an independent form of stigma, but can be compounded with other forms of stigma, such as racial or mental health stigma, to create a difficult environment for the recipient.

In another study involving legal history stigma, Hirschfield and Piquero (2010) conducted a multivariate analysis to examine public attitudes toward individuals with criminal histories. They collected data using a randomized telephone survey across four states with 2,282 participants and examined public attitudes regarding individuals with criminal histories, as well as factors reducing stigmatizing attitudes toward individuals with criminal histories. Results indicate a significant number of participants endorsed stereotypes of individuals with criminal history,

however, reduced negative views of individuals with a criminal history. Furthermore, participants' confidence in the court system impacted their attitudes toward individuals with a criminal history; specifically, participants who had trust in the judicial system held more negative views toward ex-offenders. In addition, participants who identified as conservative had increased negative attitudes toward individuals with a criminal history, while participants who identified as having liberal political views held less negative views toward individuals with a criminal history. The study by Hirschfield and Piquero (2010) helped to identify factors influencing the severity of stigma received by an individual with a criminal history; however, further study is needed to identify methods an individual with a criminal history can use to reduce stigma in order to decrease discrimination.

Unemployment

The Bureau of Labor defines unemployment as an individual who is not currently employed, is seeking a job, and is available to work (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2015). According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics (2015), the rate of unemployment in the United States as of March 2015 was 5.5%. These statistics are derived from a random sample of 60,000 households, which contain approximately 110,000 individuals. Each month a quarter of the sample is changed, and a single household is not measured again for over four months. Since 1947, the unemployment rate for a person over 16 years of age has ranged from 2.9 in 1953 to 9.7 in 1982 (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2015). The rate of unemployment was as high as 9.6 most recently in 2010 (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2015). These figures illustrate that unemployment is problematic for a portion of the population on a consistent basis and creates a competitive environment for job seekers. Individuals who are unemployed often experience high amounts of stress (McKee-Ryan, Song, Wanberg, & Kinicki, 2005). Research demonstrates people who are unemployed often report experiencing decreased happiness and lower life satisfaction than those who are employed (Clark, Georgellis, & Sanfey, 2001; Kassenboehmer & Haisken-DeNew, 2009). Unemployment increases mental distress and decreases overall health, and more extended times of unemployment can lead to higher risk of mental distress and health concerns (Backhans & Hemmingsson, 2012). Unemployment leads to increased stress due to job competition in individuals without a legal history, and stress increases more with the presence of a legal history.

A study conducted in Germany by Stavrova, Schlosser, and Baumert (2014) indicated an individual's personal perspective can impact his or her sense of well-being when unemployed. The authors examined justice sensitivity and perceived levels of well-being among the unemployed. They discuss two types of justice sensitivity: perpetrator and victim (Stavrova et al., 2014). According to the authors, a victim perspective is when an individual perceives an injustice is being imposed upon him or her and a perpetrator perspective is having the view that one is taking unfair advantage of the social systems in place for unemployment assistance. Individuals with high perpetrator sensitivity can experience strong levels of self-directed guilt when they are in situations that could cause injustice for others. Individuals who have high victim sensitivity have strong negative emotions when they perceive they are receiving an unfair, undeserved advantage compared to others. The authors analyzed self-report data collected from 400 unemployed participants, which identified the participants' justice perspective and level of well-being. Having a more sensitive perpetrator perspective was linked with lower levels of wellbeing compared to a less sensitive perpetrator perspective. There was no significant difference in the victim perspective, but there was a consistently low sense of well-being with those who

identified with the victim perspective. Although this study was not conducted in the United States and uses self-report measures, it has relevance to the current study. A criminal record is often perceived as a barrier to employment (Pager, 2003). This perceived barrier could create a victim perspective that leads to an overall reduction in well-being, regardless of sensitivity to victimization.

According to Chen, Marks, and Bersani (1994), individuals who are recurrently unemployed have the lowest overall subjective well-being. The researchers interviewed 464 participants currently in the workforce or seeking employment, collecting data on work history and overall life satisfaction. Frequent periods of unemployment led to lower perceived job security, which also led to lower subjective well-being. Individuals with a criminal record are subject to frequent employment rejections due to discrimination experienced as a result of their criminal record (Pager, 2003). Without a method to progress in the employment application process, individuals with criminal records are likely to receive multiple employment rejections, in turn leading to an overall low subjective well-being (Chen et al., 1994).

Hiring Decisions

Different types of jobs often require different types of skill sets. When evaluating a potential employee, an employer needs to gauge whether or not the applicant is appropriate for the job. Many entry level positions only require a general level of intellect and the ability to learn new basic concepts and procedures (Tews, Stafford, & Tracey, 2011). Additionally, many entry-level positions require some interaction with the public; therefore, personality factors are often considered in hiring decisions (Tews et al., 2011). According to Tews, Stafford, and Tracey (2011) employers do not focus solely on the best attributes needed for an employment position, as evidenced by the high rate of turnover and variable customer service.

The strongest predictor of employee performance is General Mental Ability (GMA) (Gottfredson, 2004; Ree, Earles, & Teachout 1994). GMA includes general cognitive abilities such as the ability to reason, solve problems, think abstractly, understand complex ideas, plan, and learn quickly (Gottfredson, 1997). Tews et al. (2011) suggest managers rely more on personality or other characteristics to fill job positions, rather than examining the GMA of a potential applicant. Therefore, although an applicant may possess a high GMA, the decision for employment may be based on other factors.

A meta-analysis by Hurtz and Donovan (2000) indicated personality factors have a positive impact on job performance, but are not the strongest predictors of job performance. The researchers examined studies incorporating the Big Five personality model which includes five personality dimensions: agreeableness, conscientiousness, emotional stability, extraversion, and openness to experience (Benet-Martinez & John, 1998; John, Donahue, & Kentle, 1991; John, Naumann, & Soto, 2008). Hurtz and Donovan (2000) found conscientiousness demonstrated the strongest positive relationship with performance for customer service occupations, followed by agreeableness and emotional stability. Conscientiousness is highly valued in sales jobs, followed by extraversion and emotional stability.

In order to investigate what is involved in hiring decisions, Tews et al. (2011) examined how GMA and personality dimensions factor into hospitality managers' decisions to hire. The authors measured responses from 104 managers of casual-themed restaurants within the United States. The managers rated 36 applications from servers with combined levels of GMA and personality dimensions. They found that GMA was not as highly valued compared to personality dimensions. More specifically, the managers rated agreeableness more highly than any other dimension, which is not the strongest predictor of performance (Hurtz & Donovan, 2000). Although a limitation of this study was the lack of generalizability to other areas of employment, individuals with previous substance abuse and legal histories often seek employment in the service industry (Larsen, 1994).

To determine individuals' perceptions regarding the personality traits of persons who use substances, Curran et al. (2014) examined college students' perceptions of those who use substance's personality traits using a Big Five personality measure. Students rated people who use substances highest on neuroticism, followed by extraversion and openness. The students rated people who use substances lowest on conscientiousness, followed by agreeableness. Based on these findings, individuals with histories of substance use would have difficulty being perceived as good applicants. In fact, a meta-analysis by Kotov, Gamez, Schmidt, and Watson (2010) found individuals with active substance use disorders to be highest on neuroticism, followed by openness, extraversion, and agreeableness. Conscientiousness was found to be the lowest trait for individuals with active substance use disorders. What is lacking from the research is the personality traits of individuals who are in recovery from substance use disorders. It is unclear if these traits persist when not in active addiction. If the personality trait most predictive of strong work performance is conscientiousness, the applicant with a substance use history would be placed at a disadvantage based upon his or her perceived level of conscientiousness. Further, if the applicant was rated on agreeableness, as was found to be the case with hospitality managers (Tews et al., 2011), those with a substance abuse history would continue to be at a disadvantage. Therefore, there is a high likelihood applicants with a history of substance use will not be seriously considered for a service position, even if they actually possess a favorable GMA and/or high levels of conscientiousness and agreeableness.

These studies help to illustrate that, although applicants with a history of substance use may possess a high GMA or have personality characteristics correlated with positive job performance, they may not be considered due to the general perception of individuals who abuse substances personality traits. The biased perception of individuals' who abuse substances personality traits make it difficult for an applicant with a history of substance abuse to obtain an interview or find employment.

Hiring decisions involving someone with a history of mental illness and involvement in the legal justice system face additional complications due to stigma about both groups (Hayward & Bright, 1997; Overton & Medina, 2008). A study by Torrey, Kennard, Eslinger, Lamb, and Pavale (2010) found among the mentally ill, 40% had been incarcerated at some point in time. Mental health stigma can persist throughout the lifespan, and a criminal record can create longterm stigma with lifelong implications (Link, Cullen, Frank, &Wozniak, 1987; Link & Phelan, 2001; Homant & Kennedy, 1982; Pager, 2003).

Batastini, Bolanos and Morgan (2014) investigated how stigma limits job opportunities for those with a mental illness, criminal history, or both. The researchers used a college sample of 456 participants, stating the sample had external validity because these individuals may be involved with hiring processes in future employment. Through survey methods, the authors measured the participants' willingness to hire the applicant, followed by their likelihood to seriously consider the applicant. In addition, some of the participants received a manipulation (i.e., psychoeducational instruction) highlighting some benefits of considering these types of applicants. Participants rated applicants with a history of mental illness and criminal background as the least acceptable applicants for employment. However, when the participants were provided psychoeducational instruction, the ratings were not significantly different compared to ratings of applicants without histories of mental illness or criminal charges. This study provides a clear example of how information provided to an employer reduces the effects of stigma regarding both mental illness and criminal history. While it is promising that the effects of stigma can be reduced for job seekers with mental health and legal histories, the authors did not offer ways for a job seeker to reduce experienced stigma on an individual level.

Building rapport with a potential employer can make it easier for an applicant with a criminal history to find employment (Pager, Western, & Sugie, 2009). A study by Swanson, Langfitt-Reese, and Bond (2012) found many employers were willing to hire someone with a criminal history. The researchers found most employers in their study had hired at least one individual with a criminal history, and applicants were more likely to be hired if they made face-to-face contact with the employer. All of these studies suggest contact, education, and rapport are important when someone with a history of mental illness or a legal history is seeking employment. What is missing from the literature are ways an applicant can increase his or her chance of achieving this face-to-face interaction.

"Ban the Box"

The National Employment Law Project (NELP) began a movement to institute a policy which would delay inquiries regarding convictions until later in the hiring process (NELP, n.d.). The policy would allow employers to evaluate applications based upon qualifications first, without the stigma associated with having a criminal record (NELP, 2015). NELP (2015) notes the felony conviction box on applications discourages people with a criminal record to apply for a position, and narrows the employers' applicant pool by eliminating applicants with felony convictions. As previously discussed, having a criminal record reduces the likelihood of having an employer make further inquiries regarding the applicant by 50% (Pager, 2003). According to NELP (2015), between 57 and 65 billion dollars in losses occur annually due to the reduced output of services and goods. These services and goods could be provided by individuals with criminal histories, which could additionally increase tax contributions (Schmitt & Warner, 2011). In addition, employment is significantly associated with a reduction in recidivism (Berg & Huebner, 2011). NELP (2015) is currently advocating for "Fair Chance Policies," which allows an employer to review the qualifications of an applicant before making a determination based upon a criminal history. This policy has been adopted in 15 states and over 100 counties and cities in the United States (Rodriguez, 2015). NELP (2015) has termed the movement "Ban the Box" because it seeks to eliminate the question about legal history on the initial application.

The national movement undertaken by NELP highlights the underlying problems inherent in reporting a criminal history on an employment application. While this movement is making great strides, it is not yet established nationwide. Many areas have not adopted the fair chance policies, and many individuals with a criminal history are discriminated against for employment due to stigma (NELP, 2015). The literature is lacking regarding strategies individuals with criminal histories can use to reduce public stigma in a way that enables them to progress to a more personal level of the hiring process. The current study investigated whether other methods (i.e., changing description in legal history section) are useful for individuals with a criminal history in moving further in the application process in areas where fair chance policies are not adopted.

Other Influences in Hiring

Other influences are also present in hiring decisions. While the presence of a substance use or legal history creates barriers for employment, influences such as the size of the community, religiosity, and political beliefs may factor into an employer's decision to grant an applicant an interview based only upon their application. The following sections highlight these three additional influences contributing to an employer's decision to grant an interview to an applicant with a criminal history related to substance use.

Rural populations. Rural areas are typically defined by the population count within a defined geographical location (Murray & Keller, 1991). According to the U.S. Census Bureau (2011), an urban area is defined as an area with a population of 50,000 or more. Rural areas are defined as those not included in urban areas (Census Bureau, 2011). There have been other methods to operationally define rural areas, such as proximity to an urban center combined with a population count denoting degrees of rurality, but for the purposes of this study the U.S. Census Bureau definition was used (Wodahl, 2006). Rural communities have unique features not observed in urban areas (Wodahl, 2006). Individuals in rural communities do not have the same level of access to public and private services compared to their urban counterparts (Murray & Keller, 1991; Robertson, 1997). There tends to be less economic diversity in rural areas, and many residents tend to have low-paying, service related positions, which are often dependent on seasonal tourism activities (Ghelfi & McGranahan, 2004; Gibbs, Kusmin, & Cromartie, 2004; Whitener & McGranahan, 2003). In addition, rural communities typically possess a high level of acquaintance density, defined as the average number of people within a given community known to its inhabitants, and can create an environment where privacy is difficult to maintain (Freudenburg, 1986; Wodhal, 2006).

Wodhal (2006) notes offenders of the criminal justice system may experience difficulty reintegrating into a rural community due to the degree of familiarity among rural community residents. Stigma related to offenders can make it difficult to find employment (Travis, Solomon, & Waul, 2001). Although criminal background checks are not always conducted, which would allow offenders to obtain employment without the stigma attached to their criminal history, this may not be possible in rural communities due to the familiarity of the population (Lewis, 2003; Wodhal, 2006). In addition, research shows smaller businesses are among the least likely to be willing to hire ex-offenders of the criminal justice system (Holzer, Raphael, & Stoll, 2002). Furthermore, Holzer, Raphael, and Stoll (2002) found employers in the service sector were least likely to hire ex-offenders due to the necessity for interaction with customers. Because most available jobs in rural communities are found within the service sector, this may create an especially difficult environment for an individual with a criminal history to obtain employment (Gibbs et al., 2004; Wodhal, 2006). This is problematic given that, according to the perceptions of mental health professionals, substance abuse is the second most prevalent mental health problem in rural and frontier areas, surpassed only by depression (McDonald, Curtis-Schaeffer, Theiler, & Howard, 2014). Therefore, given jobs in rural areas are more difficult to obtain by individuals who have previous criminal charges, it is possible individuals who reside in rural areas may be less likely to consider granting an interview to someone with a previous criminal history.

Fundamentalism. The term fundamentalist is used to describe a portion of evangelical Protestants within the United States who believe in a strict adherence to traditional articles of Christian faith (McLatchie & Draguns, 1984). Strict fundamentalist beliefs may be used to rationalize hatred or prejudice, due to the belief certain behaviors are considered a sin as opposed to mental illness (Koenig & Larson, 2001). A study by Kendler, Gardner and Prescott (1997) found increased fundamentalism was related to reduced risk of alcoholism and nicotine dependence. Additional studies found similar results (Brizer, 1993; Mathew, Georgi, Wilson, & Mathew, 1996). While these studies highlight how the presence of fundamentalist beliefs have reduced risk associated with substance use, they have not identified how these beliefs may influence those with fundamental beliefs regarding positive feelings toward individuals who have had difficulty with substances in the past.

Research demonstrates fundamentalist beliefs are preventative as a source of spiritual strength and can be used within the treatment of addiction (Arnold, Avants, Margolin, & Marcotte, 2002). Although some studies highlight positive aspects of fundamentalist beliefs, other studies indicate fundamentalist beliefs impact how an individual interacts with someone with a legal history. Having fundamentalist beliefs is associated with the imposition of harsher punishments in the criminal justice system (Grasmick, et al., 1993). However, there are no studies regarding whether or not holding strong fundamentalist beliefs impacts how an individual rates a job applicant with a history of substance use or a criminal record. If strong fundamentalist beliefs lead individuals to believe substance use/criminal history is the result of a personal weakness, they may be less likely to hire an applicant compared to someone without strong fundamentalist beliefs. Further investigation is needed to determine whether fundamentalist beliefs of a potential employer pose a barrier to an applicant with a criminal history associated with substance abuse.

Conservatism. Conservatism is a political doctrine stating the existing political policies should be embraced, while those policies that threaten to substantially change current policies should be met with mistrust and skepticism (Rescher, 2015). Politicians of the conservative party have a history of being skeptical of individuals with a history of substance use (Humphreys & Rappaport, 1993). In 1971, President Nixon instituted what he termed a 'war on drugs' (Drug Policy Alliance, 2015). Drug use had become symbolic with social upheaval, and political

rebellion and Nixon's 'war on drugs' was his attempt to stifle this movement (Drug Policy Alliance, 2015). The laws regarding substance possession became more punitive and substance use became more criminalized (Drug Policy Alliance, 2015). The laws regarding substance use relaxed somewhat during President Carter's administration, but were tightened again upon the election of President Regan (Drug Policy Alliance, 2015). During the Reagan-Bush administration in the 1980s, President Reagan and others affiliated with the conservative party suggested substance abuse was due to the moral failing of individuals (Drug Abuse Policy Office, 1982; Drug Abuse Policy Office, 1984; Office of National Drug Control Strategy, 1989; Office of National Drug Control Strategy, 1990). The problem of substance abuse was highlighted as a social problem due to an inherent defect of the person using substance rather than an issue of mental health (Humphreys & Rappaport, 1993).

Researchers during this time period who adhered to the claim substance abuse was a result of internal defects in character were less than objective when investigating this claim. Rhodes and Jason (1988) reviewed substance abuse programs at the time and noted interventions were focused on individual factors (such as personality), as opposed to ecological variables, suggesting the problem of substance use was attributed to internal personality variables of the individual. In addition, Humphries and Rappaport (1993) note during a literature search conducted between January, 1981 and March, 1992, only three references were found regarding substance abuse and ecological factors, while 170 were found investigating substance abuse and personality. Finally, the focus on the genetic component to addiction was highlighted during this time period (Humphreys & Rappaport, 1993). Plomin and Rende (1991) noted much of the behavioral genetics research in the 1970s previously met with skepticism was accepted during the 1980s despite shortcomings in method.

Those with conservative views have frequently been in favor of incarceration as a consequence for substance abuse (Bullington, 2004; Humphreys & Rappaport, 1993). The 'war on drugs' led by the conservative party, suggests individuals with a history of substance use are part of the criminal element, which resulted in a drastic increase in the prison population (Dagan & Teles, 2014). Juries composed of those with conservative political views impose harsher sentences on offenders compared to offenders tried by judges (Bowers & Waltman, 1993; Levine, 1983). Conservativism is correlated with a more punitive stance for substance related charges (Langworthy & Whitehead, 1986; Lee & Rasinski, 2006). If conservative views tend to lead to harsher criminal sentences, and individuals who abuse substances are perceived as being a part of the criminal element, it is possible conservative views may influence an individual's decision on granting an interview to someone with a history of substance use.

Summary

Stigma has negative effects on mental and physical health of individuals considered to be in a marginalized group (Corrigan et al., 2004; Rüsch et al., 2014; Thonicroft et al., 2010). Individuals who experience stigma encounter limitations on housing, employment, and access to services (Corrigan et al., 2006; Stuart, 2008). Stigma is shown to limit opportunities toward those stigmatized populations, and for those associated with multiple stigmatized groups, this effect is multiplicative (Pager, 2003).

Individuals with a history of substance abuse are a stigmatized group (Ahern et al., 2007). These individuals are often perceived to have a condition resulting from the individual's personality characteristics (Corrigan et al., 2009). Individuals with a history of substance abuse are frequently described as having weak moral character compared to the general population (Radcliffe & Stevens, 2008; Room, 2005). In addition, stigma related to substance abuse can manifest within the individual (i.e., perceived and self-stigma), as well as from outside sources (i.e., enacted, prejudice, discrimination; Stavrova et al., 2014). As a result of overarching beliefs held by the population at large, an individual who uses substances may internalize the values of the culture, which can create a sense of shame within the individual (Stavrova et al., 2014). In addition, the individual may be actively discriminated against by the community at large (Corrigan et al., 2004).

Involvement with the criminal justice system also results in stigmatization (Turney et al., 2013). Possessing a criminal history frequently prevents individuals from obtaining gainful employment (Pager, 2003). In addition, individuals with criminal histories experience significantly fewer opportunities for employment, compared with individuals with no criminal history (Pager, 2003). The literature shows a large number of individuals have experiences with the criminal justice system as a result of a substance use disorder (Bonczar & Maruschak, 2013). Employers use a history of legal charges as one way to narrow their applicant pool (NELP, 2015).

Hiring decisions also do not favor an applicant with a criminal substance use history (Batastini et al., 2014). The literature shows that although many employers would be willing to employ an individual with a criminal history if they met with the applicant face-to-face, many applicants are not given the opportunity due to how potential employers narrow the applicant pool (Pager et al., 2009).

The literature suggests individuals with a criminal history related to substance use will experience considerable difficulty when attempting to obtain employment due to multiplicative effects of stigma (Corrigan et al., 2006; Stuart, 2008). For individuals from cultural minority populations these difficulties will be further increased (Pager, 2003). Methods have been

identified to increase the potential for an individual with a criminal history of substance use to obtain employment, but these methods require personal interaction with the employer which is not possible if these applicants are eliminated during the application review process (Pager et al., 2009; NELP, 2015).

Other factors may impact a potential employer's decision to employ someone with a criminal history related to substance use. There are differences identified with regard to employment in rural areas (Ghelfi & McGranahan, 2004; Gibbs et al., 2004). Rural areas are more likely to have job openings in service related industries and employers who are less willing to hire someone with a criminal history (Whitener & McGranahan, 2003). Given these factors, there may be differences in the way individuals from rural populations rate an applicant with a criminal history related to substance use compared to those from non-rural areas.

Furthermore, fundamentalism is associated with a negative view of those who use substances (Hirschfield & Piquero, 2010). An individual with fundamentalist beliefs tends to ascribe the history of substance use to low moral character traits (Koenig & Larson, 2001). This can influence a potential employer's willingness to hire someone with a history of substance use. Finally, conservativism is associated with a more punitive stance toward criminal offenses, and has a long-standing tradition of criminalizing those who use substances (Langworthy & Whitehead, 1986; Lee & Rasinski, 2006). It is possible potential employers with strong conservative and fundamentalist beliefs will be less likely to hire someone with a criminal history related to substance use than those with less conservative and fundamentalist beliefs.

Hypotheses

For the current study, the following were hypothesized:

- It was predicted participants who viewed applications with "no legal history" would be more likely to grant an interview to the applicant, compared to participants who viewed applications which listed the presence of a legal history (i.e., will discuss, possession of a controlled substance) based upon previous research (Pager, 2003).
 Since no previous studies have explored using alternate terminology in the criminal history section (i.e., will discuss), it was unknown if participants would be more or less likely to grant an interview compared to the condition with the presence of a legal charge (i.e., possession of a controlled substance) and no specific predictions were made regarding the participant's decision for those applications.
 - a. Participants who read the applications with "no legal history" were predicted to have higher confidence in their decision compared to participants who read the applications with the presence of a legal history.
 - b. Participants who read the applications with "no legal history" were predicted to be more likely to grant an interview compared to participants who read the applications with the presence of a legal history. As previously discussed, the outcome of the "will discuss" condition compared to the "possession of a controlled substance" condition served an exploratory role.
- 2. Additionally, the current study examined if participants' decision to grant an interview to an individual with a criminal history was influenced by whether or not the participant previously lived in a rural community. It was hypothesized that participants who lived in rural areas would be less likely to grant an interview to an applicant with a criminal history compared to participants from non-rural areas, based

upon the literature demonstrating it is more difficult for individuals with a criminal history to obtain employment in rural areas (Lewis, 2003; Wodhal, 2006).

3. In addition, it was predicted the decision to grant an interview is influenced by level of conservativism, fundamentalism, and substance abuse stigma. It was predicted that participants who report higher levels of conservativism, fundamentalism, or substance abuse stigma would be less likely to grant an interview to those reporting a legal history (i.e., "will discuss" or "possession of a controlled substance"). As previously discussed, it was unknown what type of charge the participant thought of when reading the "will discuss" condition; therefore, no specific predictions were made as to whether or not the level of conservativism, fundamentalism, or substance abuse stigma reported by the participant will make it more or less likely to grant an interview to an applicant who lists "will discuss" on the application compared to "possession of a controlled substance."

CHAPTER 3: METHOD

Participants

Data was collected from 493 students at a large regional university. After initial examination of the data, 35 participants were removed due to not completing several measures in the study. There were 458 (183 men – 40.0%; 274 women – 59.8%) participants included in the study. The mean age of the participants was 20.04 (SD = 3.19), with most (94.6%) between the ages of 18 and 24. Participants' current year in school included freshman (146; 32.0%), sophomore (160; 34.9%), junior (86; 18.8%), senior (60; 13.1%), and post-baccalaureate (6; 1.3%). Most participants identified as Caucasian (253; 55.2%), 123 as African American (27%), 34 as Hispanic/Latino (7.4%), 15 as Native American (3.3%), 11 as Asian (2.4%), nine as Middle Eastern (2.0%), and five as Pacific Islander (1.1%). There were eight participants (1.7%) who did not answer questions regarding ethnicity. Most participants (346; 75.5%) reported growing up in rural areas, 95 participants (20.7%) reported being from non-rural areas, and 17 participants (3.7%) either did not provide the information or were originally from another country.

Procedure

Participants were provided a link to an online survey site. Following consent procedures, participants read a short description of an open job position (see Appendix A). Participants were then randomly assigned to one of three job applications. All applications were identical with the exception of the legal section; the legal background was one of three conditions: "Possession of a controlled substance," "will discuss," or "none." Participants then reported whether or not they would grant an interview to the applicant whose application they read and what in the application led them to the decision (see Appendix B). In addition, the participants rated their confidence in

their choice on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from "Not at all confident" to "Completely confident." Furthermore, the participants rated their likelihood to grant an interview based upon the application on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from "Not at all likely" to "Extremely likely." Next, participants completed the remaining questionnaires, provided demographic information, and were debriefed. During the debriefing, information on free mental health services was provided in the event the study elicited any distress for the participant.

Materials

This study used a generic manager job description and a generic job application. The job description was identified through a Google search using the keywords "manager job description." The sample used was from Monster.com, which was available through the public website. The job application was identified through a Google search using the keywords "job application." A sample was used from the About.com public website page at http://jobsearch.about.com/od/jobappsamples/a/employmentapp.htm. The applications were identical with the exception of the legal history section (see Appendices C through E).

Measures

Community Attitudes Toward Substance Abusers Scale (CASA; Hayes et al., 2004). The CASA measures stigmatizing attitudes toward those who abuse substances. The CASA is a 40-item questionnaire using a 5-point Likert scale (i.e., strongly disagree to strongly agree) developed by Hayes et al. (2004) by modifying the Community Attitudes Toward the Mentally Ill scale (CAMI) created by Taylor and Dear (1981). The analyses for the current study only used the total score. Higher scores indicate higher levels of stigmatization toward those who abuse substances. Some sample questions from the CASA include, "Drug and alcohol addiction is an

illness like any other," and "Drug addicts and alcoholics need the same kind of control and discipline as a young child." Cronbach's alpha for the current sample was .88.

Revised Religious Fundamentalism Scale (RRF; Altemeyer & Hunsberger, 2004). The

RRF is a 12-item measure to assess religious fundamentalism on a 9-point Likert scale ranging from 'Very Strongly Disagree' to 'Very Strongly Agree' (Altemyer & Hunsberger, 2004). The RRF has alpha reliability coefficients of .91 to .92, and good construct validity (Altemyer & Hunsberger, 2004). Cronbach's alpha for the current sample was .93. Sample scale items include, "No single book of religious teachings contains all intrinsic, fundamental truths about life," and "To lead the best, most meaningful life, one must belong to the one, fundamentally true religion." The items are calculated into a total score, where higher scores reflect higher rates of religious fundamentalism.

Political Conservatism Scale (PCS; Napier & Jost, 2008). The PCS measures political orientation using a two-item questionnaire on a 7-point Likert scale. The items include "What is your political ideology?" and "What is your political party affiliation?" The scale ranges from 'Strong Liberal/Democrat' to 'Strong Conservative/Republican.' The means of the two items are calculated to produce a total score. The scale items have high intercorrelations (r = .46, p < .001). Cronbach's alpha for the current sample was .85.

Demographic questionnaire. Participants provided demographic information including age, race, gender, year in school, and current major (see appendix F). Additionally, participants listed the zip code of their home town and identified if the area is non-rural (i.e., population of 50,000 or more) or rural (i.e., population of less than 50,000; Census Bureau, 2011). This information enabled further analysis to determine the relationship between rurality and stigmatizing attitudes.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

Preliminary Analyses

A Spearman's rank-order correlation was conducted to assess the relationships among the predictor variables. The Spearman's rank-order correlation was chosen instead of a Pearson's correlation because the rural variable was ordinal (i.e., rural or urban), and not continuous. Preliminary analyses showed the relationships between the variables to be monotonic, as assessed by visual inspection of scatterplots. There was a small positive correlation demonstrated higher levels of religious fundamentalism were correlated with higher levels of substance use stigma, consistent with the hypothesis. There was a small positive correlation between the CASA and the PCS, $r_s(456) = 0.202$, p < .001. This small positive correlation between the CASA and the PCS, $r_s(456) = 0.202$, p < .001. This small positive correlation between the CASA and the PCS, $r_s(456) = 0.202$, p < .001. This small positive correlation was consistent with the hypothesis that higher levels of conservativism would be correlated with higher levels of substance use stigmatization. This finding demonstrated the higher levels of conservativism were correlated with higher levels of substance use stigmatization. There was a moderate positive correlation between rural areas and the other variables were not significant (see Table 1).

A series of one-way ANOVAs were conducted to determine whether random assignment was successful. A one-way Welch ANOVA was conducted to determine if the mean scores on the CASA were significantly different for participants in the three levels of the independent variable. There were no outliers, as assessed by boxplot, and the data were normally distributed for each group as assessed by Shapiro-Wilk test (p > .05). However, there was heterogeneity of variances as assessed by Levene's test of homogeneity of variances (p = .04). The CASA score decreased from the "no legal history" (M = 109.83, SD = 14.60), to "possession of a controlled substance" (M = 106.76, SD = 17.82), to "will discuss" (M = 105.83, SD = 17.58) conditions respectively. The differences in the CASA scores between the groups were not statistically significant, Welch's F(2, 299.973) = 2.717, p = .07. A one-way ANOVA was conducted to determine if the scores on the RRF were significantly different for participants in the three levels of the independent variable. There were no outliers, as assessed by boxplot, and the data were normally distributed for each group as assessed by Shapiro-Wilk test (p > .05). There was homogeneity of variances, as assessed by Levene's test for equality of variances (p = .76). The RRF score increased from the "will discuss" (M = 59.95, SD = 22.62), to "possession of a controlled substance" (M = 61.45, SD = 23.18), to "no legal history" (M = 62.77, SD = 23.58) conditions respectively, but the differences between the conditions were not statistically significant, F(2, 455) = 0.576, p = .56. A one-way ANOVA was conducted to determine if the scores on the PCS were significantly different for participants in the three levels of the independent variable. There were no outliers, as assessed by boxplot, and the data were normally distributed for each group as assessed by Shapiro-Wilk test (p > .05). There was homogeneity of variances, as assessed by Levene's test for equality of variances (p = .43). The PCS score increased from the "no legal history" (M = 4.20, SD = 1.70), to "will discuss" (M = 4.33, SD =1.56), to "possession of a controlled substance" (M = 4.37, SD = 1.61) conditions respectively, but the differences between the conditions were not statistically significant, F(2, 455) = 0.471, p = .63. As no statistically significant differences were found across conditions, we can assume random assignment was successful.

Decision to Grant Interview by Application Condition

To determine if condition was related to decision to grant an interview, a 2 (yes, no) x 3 (no legal history, possession of a controlled substance, will discuss) Chi-square test of

homogeneity was performed to determine if there were significant differences between binomial proportions of three independent groups on the dichotomous dependent variable. There were 458 participants who were randomly assigned to view either an application with "no legal history," "possession of a controlled substance," or "will discuss." There were two participants (1.3%) in the "no legal history" condition, ten participants (6.8%) in the "possession of a controlled substance" condition, and 15 participants in the "will discuss" condition who said "no" to granting an interview to the applicant. There was a statistical difference in the proportions, *p* = .01 (see Table 2). Post hoc analysis involved pairwise comparisons using the z-test of two proportions with a Bonferroni correction. The proportion of participants in the no legal charge condition who responded "no" to an interview was significantly lower than participants in the "will discuss" condition, *p* < .05. The proportion of participants responding "no" to an interview in the no legal charge and listed charge conditions was not statistically significant, *p* > .05.

A one-way ANOVA compared the effect of the levels of the application condition on the participant's likelihood to grant an interview. The participants' responses were recorded on a 7-point Likert scale which demonstrated the participants' overall likelihood to grant an interview. Higher scores indicated a higher likelihood of granting an interview. Preliminary evaluation of the data indicated the likelihood variable violated assumptions of normality as assessed by Levene's Statistic (p < .005), and were negatively skewed. The likelihood variable was reflected with a square root transformation, which transformed the data to meet the normality requirements (Levene's Statistic p = .54). Therefore, the reflection of the data is considered during interpretation of the results. After the transformation a higher likelihood to grant an

interview is reflected by lower values. The likelihood to grant an interview was statistically significant by levels of the application condition, F(2, 455) = 13.131, p < .001, Partial Eta Squared = 0.055. Post-hoc comparisons using Gabriel's procedure demonstrated the likelihood to grant an interview was significantly higher for the "no legal charge" condition (M = 1.33, SD = 0.31), compared to the "possession of a controlled substance" (M = 1.51, SD = 0.37, p < .001) and "will discuss" conditions (M = 1.50, SD = 0.36, p < .001), a mean increase of 0. 18 (SE = 0.04) and 0.17 (SE = 0.04), respectively. No other pairwise comparisons were significant.

Confidence to grant interview. A one-way ANOVA compared the effect of the levels of the application condition on participant's confidence in their decision. This response was recorded on a 7-point Likert scale which measured the overall confidence in their decision to either grant, or not grant an interview. To incorporate all participants the confidence score was multiplied by -1 if the participant responded "no," and multiplied by 1 if they responded "yes" to the decision to grant an interview. The confidence in the decision to grant an interview was statistically significant by different level of application condition, F(2, 455) = 11.091, p < .001, Partial Eta Squared = .046. Post-hoc comparisons using Gabriel's procedure demonstrated the confidence in the decision was significantly higher for the "no legal charge" condition (M = 5.62, SD = 1.53), compared to the "possession of a controlled substance" (M = 4.70, SD = 2.59, p < .001) and "will discuss" conditions (M = 4.37, SD = 2.88, p < .001), a mean increase of 0.92 (SE = 0.28) and 1.25 (SE = 0.27), respectively. No other pairwise comparisons were significant.

Rural Participants Decision With Presence of Legal Charge

A chi-square test for association was conducted between decision to grant an interview and rural area (see Table 3). The test was selected to determine whether the two categorical variables were associated or statistically independent. Only participants who were in either the listed legal charge or will discuss conditions were included in the analysis because the study was specifically focusing on determining differences between rural vs non-rural participants response to applicants with a criminal history. Inclusion of the "no legal charge" condition would add participants that had not viewed an application with an entry on the legal section of the application. There were 293 participants who were included in the analysis. However, the results from the analysis revealed the expected cell frequency was less than 5 for one of the cells (25%). Therefore, only results from the Fisher's Exact test are reported. The Fisher's Exact test revealed the association between decision to grant an interview by rural area was not statistically significant, p = .17.

Decision Predicted by Condition, Conservativism, Fundamentalism, and Stigma

A binomial logistic regression was conducted to determine the extent to which the decision to grant an interview was predicted by the main effects of the condition of the independent variable, CASA score, RRF score, and PCS score (see Table 4). Interactions between variables were not assessed due to the small sample size which would have created insufficient power for the analysis. Because rurality was not determined to be a significant factor by the previous analysis, it was not included in the regression. The linearity of the continuous variables with respect to the logit of the dependent variable was assessed via the Box-Tidwell (1962) procedure. Applying a Bonferroni correction while using all nine terms in the model resulted in statistical significance being accepted when p < .005 (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007) With this assessment in mind, all continuous independent variables were found to be linearly related to the logit of the dependent variable. The logistic regression model was statistically significant, $x^2(5) = 14.586$, p = .01. The model explained 8.7% (Nagelkerke R^2) of the variance in the decision to grant an interview and correctly classified 94.1% of the cases. Of the six

predictor variables only the three conditions of independent variable were significant. The odds of a participant saying "no" to an interview were 5.36 times higher when they viewed the application with "possession of a controlled substance" as compared to the application with "no legal charge." Participants in the "will discuss" condition had 8.35 times higher odds of saying "no" to an interview as compared to the application with "no legal charge" with 95% CIs [1.15, 24.94], and [1.87, 37.33] respectively.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

Overview

There is a lack of research investigating methods to reduce experienced stigma due to substance use legal charges in employment settings. The presence of these charges serve as a barrier to employment and lead to psychological distress (Pager, 2003; Turney, et al., 2013). The presence of these legal charges prime unfavorably perceived personality traits of those who use substances within potential employers (Curran et al., 2014; Hurtz & Donovan, 2000; Tews et al., 2011). In addition, quantitative research on hiring decisions in rural vs. non-rural areas was lacking (Lewis, 2003; Travis, et al., 2001; Wodhal 2006). Finally, there was conflicting research making it difficult to determine if fundamentalism and conservatism influence willingness to grant an interview to someone with a substance use legal history (Arnold, et al., 2002; Humphreys & Rappaport, 1993; Koenig & Larson, 2001).

The current study investigated whether changing the language used in the criminal history section of an employment application would make it more or less likely for an individual with a criminal history of substance use to obtain an interview. Additionally, the study investigated the relationships between rurality, substance use stigma, fundamentalism, and conservativism on likeliness to grant an interview for an applicant with a criminal history related to substance use.

Changing the Legal History Language

The results of the study showed non-significant results between the participants in the control condition (no legal charges) and the "possession of a controlled substance" condition. This finding was inconsistent with our hypothesis. We expected more participants would deny an interview to an applicant who listed "possession of a controlled substance" under legal history.

However, significantly more participants denied an interview when the applicant listed "will discuss" under legal history compared to the no charge condition. The difference between the "possession of a controlled substance" and the "will discuss" condition was non-significant.

Further examination using participant confidence in the decision to grant an interview and likelihood to grant an interview was consistent with the current hypothesis. Participants had significantly higher confidence in the decision to grant an interview for the participants in the control condition compared to the "possession of a controlled substance" and "will discuss" conditions. Furthermore, the likelihood to grant an interview demonstrated similar results. Participants had higher likelihood to grant an interview for participants in the control condition compared to the "possession of a controlled substance" and "will discuss" conditions.

Although not statistically significant, more participants denied an interview in the "will discuss" condition compared to the "possession of a controlled substance" condition. This was also consistent with the finding examining the confidence in the decision to grant an interview. While not statistically significant, the mean scores demonstrated participants had higher confidence for the 'possession of a controlled substance' condition compared to the "will discuss" condition.

While non-significant results on the initial investigation are not consistent with current literature, they do highlight some important findings. Compared to the control condition, significantly more participants denied an interview in the "will discuss" condition, but the difference with the "possession of a controlled substance" was not statistically significant. One explanation for this difference may be honesty. Kosterman et al. (2005) found a broad negative association when examining positive adult behaviors with substance use and honesty. It is possible participants viewing the application with the "possession of a controlled substance"

perceived the applicant as being honest, which made them less likely to say no to an interview. Conversely, participants who viewed "will discuss" may have perceived the participant as less honest, resulting in a significant result. A study by Johnson, Rowatt, and Petrini (2011) found that honesty and humility predicted better job performance and was highly valued in employers. It is possible that by being honest the applicant was rated more positively and considered a better applicant for employment. The finding suggests being honest about a past legal history of substance use may be sufficient to increase the chances of obtaining an employment interview. However, the results of the confidence in the decision and likelihood to grant an interview were consistent with the current hypothesis.

In addition the participants' own personal experience with either their own substance use, or knowledge of someone close to them who has used substances may have influenced the result. SAMHSA (2013) identified the highest rates of individuals with substance use disorders to be between the ages of 18 to 25. This is the typical age range for traditional college students, and it is possible that the participants are personally familiar with an individual who has had a substance use disorder. Stevens, Jason, Ram, and Light (2015) discuss that the use of social resources results in a higher rate of abstinence for individual's with substance use disorders. It is possible that individual's within the participant's social network have reached out for support at some point in time. It has been shown that direct interaction with a stigmatized population can reduce stigma (Heijnders & Van Der Meij, 2006). Therefore, it is possible that the participant's own personal experience with an individual who has had a substance use disorder may have influenced the result.

Rural Differences

There were no significant differences between rural and non-rural participants on

decision to grant an interview to applications with "possession of a controlled substance" or "will discuss" under legal history. The findings of the study are inconsistent with our hypotheses, and inconsistent with previous research (Lewis, 2003; Wodhal, 2006).

Although inconsistent with previous findings, the current study illustrates some important findings. Previous research indicates large differences in the number of people using substances in rural vs. non-rural communities have reduced over time (Cronk & Sarvela, 1997). In fact, research in rural communities in the southeast indicates proportionally higher numbers of those who use substances in these areas compared to their urban counterparts (Browne, Priester, Clone, Iachini, DeHart, & Hock, 2016). It is possible with the increased number of individuals using substances in rural areas, attitudes toward those who use substances have also changed. With a higher rate of acquaintance density, it may be likely individuals from rural communities have close relations with persons who have abused substances (Freudenburg, 1986; Wodhal, 2006). Furthermore, due to the higher rate of acquaintance density, individuals from rural areas will likely have greater knowledge of persons who have successfully recovered from the use of substances, which may further align their attitudes toward those who use substances with their urban counterparts. The results of this study make it apparent that further research is required.

Application Condition, Substance Use Stigma, Conservativism, and Fundamentalism

The results of the analysis produced a significant result for the application condition, and a nonsignificant result for the levels of stigma, conservativism, and fundamentalism. The significant result of the treatment condition was consistent with the study's hypothesis. The nonsignificant result from the levels of stigma, conservativism, and fundamentalism was not consistent with the study's hypothesis. The results demonstrated participants who viewed the "possession of a controlled substance" condition had 5.36 times higher odds of saying no to an

interview compared to the control condition. The participants who viewed the "will discuss" application had 8.35 higher odds of saying no to an interview compared to the control condition. The results clearly show providing a vague response on the application will result in higher odds of not being selected for an interview. It is possible that although substance use stigma is present, as demonstrated by the difference between the treatment conditions, priming substance use stigma is preferable to leaving a response that may be perceived as dishonest.

While the levels of stigma, conservativism, and fundamentalism were nonsignificant, the results are important to consider. While the levels of these factors vary between participants, they were not a significant trait that factored into their decision to grant an interview. Regardless of their personal beliefs, the participants' decisions appeared to be solely based upon the presence of a legal charge. The finding suggests interventions to reduce stigma related to employment for substance abuse populations are possible without needing to call into question an individual's personal values.

Limitations

There are several limitations of the current study which should be considered when interpreting and generalizing the results. The participants are college students from a southeastern university which has several implications. These participants likely do not have any experience with hiring decisions, and it is possible differences would be found if this study was replicated with hiring managers. Additionally, based upon the definition of rurality, the majority of the participants identified as being from a rural area. This is not uncommon given the location of the university, but may influence results differentially compared to other samples. Furthermore, given the location of the university, it is possible differences in the levels of stigma, conservatism, and fundamentalism would be greater given a more geographically diverse sample size.

A further limitation of the current study was the criteria for inclusion to grant an interview. Participants were instructed to read a job description and then make a determination on whether they would grant an interview based upon the application. The current study examined whether a participant would generally grant an interview, which it demonstrated. However, in an actual employment interview selection, the stakes are higher. There are generally limited resources to conduct interviews and there are a limited number of interview options available for a large number of applicants. The majority of applicants made the decision to grant the interview, which may be due in part to a lack of the logistical considerations inherent in actual business decisions. Future research should include more real-world analogous parameters for decision to interview, such as including information about the number of applicants, number of available interview spots, and other constraints. No information from this study can be used to determine if a participant would be more willing to grant an interview to one applicant over another, as each participant was only provided with one application type to review. In comparison to an applicant with no legal history, a participant may decide differently regarding decision to interview an applicant with any legal history information on their application.

This study included a manipulation check with the intent to determine participants were paying attention to the application as they completed the study. The question asked what part of the application was considered when making their decision. It was assumed participants would respond indicating they considered the legal section if there was a legal charge present. However, after reviewing the results many participants indicated they considered other parts of the application. There were several participants who stated they considered the work history despite having legal charges. This indicated the manipulation check was not robust enough to ensure participants had viewed the legal section, which calls into question their level of attention when completing the study. Furthermore, the ordering of the "yes" or "no" decision followed by the Likert scale questions measuring likelihood to grant an interview and confidence in the decision to grant an interview could have been re-ordered to provide a more realistic experience. As mentioned above, the study lacked any sense of priority for applicant to grant an interview. By re-ordering the Likert scale likelihood and confidence questions it may have resulted in the participant engaging in more consideration prior to making their final decision, in turn providing a more realistic experience.

In addition, the focus of this study was a specific substance use charge. There may be differences in the type of charge and the willingness to grant an interview. While this study has demonstrated listing "will discuss" on an application leads to lower odds of receiving an interview compared to a listed substance charge, there may be other charges where listing "will discuss" would be preferable. Future research would help to provide further clarity.

Finally, this study did not require the participants to disclose their own experience with individuals who have a history of substance use. Additionally, the participant was not required to disclose if they had a previous history of substance abuse. Past personal experience with this population may have had a mediating effect influencing the results.

Theoretical Implications and Future Directions

The current study highlighted important findings which demonstrate a need for future research. The non-significant difference found between the "no legal history" condition and "possession of a controlled substance" condition highlights the need for further examination into factors that may have influenced this result. Identification of factors that will increase the chance for an individual with a legal history of a substance use disorder to obtain an employment interview could have far reaching implications for this population. It could result in a better quality of life for these individuals, which in turn could have a greater impact on their ability to prevent a return to substance use. Future research should focus on several factors to achieve this goal. Creating a more robust scenario where the application process is more realistic would help to determine if this finding has more sound external validity. Incorporation of more specific manipulation checks and potentially adding "catch questions" would help to determine the participants' level of attention when reading the application, demonstrating that they are in fact taking into consideration the applicant's prior legal history. In addition, it may be beneficial to determine the perceived personality traits the potential employer has for an applicant who lists a specific legal charge instead of a vague response such as "will discuss" to determine specifically the differences that are being perceived by the employer that are creating the desired result. Furthermore, more inquiry into the participant's own personal exposure to individuals with substance use history should be explored. Upon identification of participant's exposure to the population, the relationship can be controlled for in future analyses.

Regarding the rural findings, it will be important to focus efforts to determine what difference continue to exist with regards to substance use and employment research in rural areas. It will be important to determine what factors are influencing these results. If these factors are identified, more resources can be focused on specific areas to decrease stigma and provide and environment that can be more conducive to enabling individuals with a previous legal history of substance use disorders to obtain employment.

There is a lack of research regarding individuals in recovery from substance use disorders. While there are numerous studies on individuals with active substance use disorders,

there are very few studies including individuals who have a previous history of substance use disorder. This may be due to greater accessibility to individuals with active substance use disorders located in treatment centers, but greater efforts should be made to work with individuals who have successfully recovered from substance use. It is possible that many of the traits that have been found with individuals with active substance use disorders do not apply to individuals who do not actively have a substance use disorder. If differences are found, it may help to reduce stigma that is currently held towards individuals with a history of substance use disorders.

Conclusion

The current study sought to determine methods of reducing substance use stigma for the purpose of employment applications. Previous research shows substance use stigma is reduced through personal contact with the stigmatized individual. The current study examined methods in which it may be more likely for an individual with a substance use history to reach the point of personal contact in the application process. The study demonstrated an applicant with a possession of a controlled substance charge would be more likely to obtain an employment interview if they listed "possession of a controlled substance" instead of writing "will discuss" in the legal history section of their employment application.

While there were not significant differences between rurality, stigma, conservatism, and fundamentalism, this may be a sign of a positive direction. Previous studies demonstrating significant differences in attitudes toward substance use populations based on geographic region may need to be re-evaluated. There have been significant strides in education regarding substance use and stigma reduction. The current findings may indicate these efforts are having an effect on the overall community. Future research would benefit from continued research in this field in order to provide the best assistance for individuals in recovery from substance use disorders. By working toward solutions for reintegrating these individuals into the workforce, we can provide a better chance of sustained recovery.

REFERENCES

- Abuse, S. Mental Health Administration (SAMHSA), (2013). Results from the 2012 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Summary of National Findings.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, (DSM-5*®). American Psychiatric Pub.
- Ahern, J., Stuber, J., & Galea, S. (2007). Stigma, discrimination and the health of illicit drug users. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 88, 188-196.
- Albrecht, G. L., Walker, V. G., & Levy, J. A. (1982). Social distance from the stigmatized: A test of two theories. *Social Science & Medicine*, *16*, 1319-1327.
- Altemeyer, B., & Hunsberger, B. (2004). A Revised Religious Fundamentalism Scale: The Short and sweet of it. *International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 14, 47-54. doi:10.1207/s15327582ijpr1401_4
- American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM, 2015). Public Policy Statement: Definition of Addiction. Retrieved from http://www.asam.org/for-the-public/definition-of-addiction
- Arnold, R., Avants, S. K., Margolin, A., & Marcotte, D. (2002). Patient attitudes concerning the inclusion of spirituality into addiction treatment. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 23, 319-326.
- Augoustinos, M., Ahrens, C., & Innes, J. M. (1994). Stereotypes and prejudice: The Australian experience. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, *33*, 125-141.

- Backhans, M. C., & Hemmingsson, T. (2012). Unemployment and mental health—who is (not) affected?. *The European Journal of Public Health*, 22, 429-433, doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckr059.
- Batastini, A. B., Bolanos, A. D., & Morgan, R. D. (2014). Attitudes toward hiring applicants with mental illness and criminal justice involvement: The impact of education and experience. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 37, 524-533.
- Benet-Martínez, V., & John, O. P. (1998). Los Cinco Grandes across cultures and ethnic groups: Multitrait-multimethod analyses of the Big Five in Spanish and English. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 75, 729-750, doi:10.1037/0022-3514.75.3.729.
- Berg, M. T., & Huebner, B. M. (2011). Reentry and the ties that bind: An examination of social ties, employment, and recidivism. *Justice Quarterly*, 28, 382-410.
- Bonczar, T. P., Maruschak, L. M., Bureau of Justice Statistics, US Dept of Justice, & Office of Justice Programs. (2013). Probation and parole in the United States, 2012. *Bureau of Justice Statistics*.
- Bowers, D. A., & Waltman, J. L. (1993). Do more conservative states impose harsher felony sentences? An exploratory analysis of 32 states. *Criminal Justice Review*, *18*, 61-70.
- Box, G., & Tidwell, P. (1962). Transformation of the independent variables. *Technometrics*, *4*, 531-550. doi:10.2307/1266288
- Brizer, D. A. (1993). Religiosity and drug abuse among psychiatric inpatients. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 19, 337-345.

- Browne, T., Priester, M. A., Clone, S., Iachini, A., DeHart, D., & Hock, R. (2016). Barriers and facilitators to substance use treatment in the rural south: A qualitative study. *The Journal of Rural Health*, *32*, 102-109. doi:10.1111/jrh.12130
- Bullington, B. (2004). Drug policy reform and its detractors: The United States as the elephant in the closet. *Journal of Drug Issues*, *34*, 687-721.
- Carson, E. A., & Golinelli, D. (2013). Prisoners in 2012. *Bureau of Justice Statistics, December*, 1.
- Chen, H. T., Marks, M. R., & Bersani, C. A. (1994). Unemployment classifications and subjective well-being. *The Sociological Review*, 42, 62-78.
- Clark, A., Georgellis, Y., & Sanfey, P. (2001). Scarring: The psychological impact of past unemployment. *Economica*, 68, 221-241.
- Corrigan, P. W. (2000). Mental health stigma as social attribution: Implications for research methods and attitude change. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, *7*, 48-67.
- Corrigan, P. W., Edwards, A. B., Green, A., Diwan, S. L., & Penn, D. L. (2001). Prejudice, social distance, and familiarity with mental illness. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 27, 219.
- Corrigan, P. W., & Kleinlein, P. (2005). On the stigma of mental illness: Implications for research and social change. *American Psychological Association Press, Washington DC*.
- Corrigan, P. W., Kuwabara, S. A., & O'Shaughnessy, J. (2009). The public stigma of mental illness and drug addiction findings from a stratified random sample. *Journal of Social Work*, *9*, 139-147.

- Corrigan, P. W., Larson, J. E., Watson, A. C., Boyle, M., & Barr, L. (2006). Solutions to discrimination in work and housing identified by people with mental illness. *The Journal* of Nervous and Mental Disease, 194, 716-718.
- Corrigan, P., & Lundin, R. (2001). Don't call me nuts: Coping with the stigma of mental illness. Tinley Park, IL: Recovery Press.
- Corrigan, P. W., Markowitz, F. E., & Watson, A. C. (2004). Structural levels of mental illness stigma and discrimination. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *30*, 481-491.
- Corrigan, P. W., River, L. P., Lundin, R. K., Penn, D. L., Uphoff-Wasowski, K., Campion, J., ...
 & Kubiak, M. A. (2001). Three strategies for changing attributions about severe mental illness. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 27, 187.
- Corrigan, P. W., & Watson, A. C. (2002). The paradox of self-stigma and mental illness. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, *9*, doi:10.1093/clipsy/9.1.35
- Crocker, J., Major, B., & Steele, C. (1998). Social stigma. In D. T. Gilbert, S. T. Fiske, G. Lindzey, D. T. Gilbert, S. T. Fiske, G. Lindzey (Eds.), *The Handbook of Social Psychology, Vols. 1 and 2 (4th ed.)* (pp. 504-553). New York, NY, US: McGraw-Hill.
- Cronk, C. E., & Sarvela, P. D. (1997). Alcohol, tobacco, and other drug use among rural/small town and urban youth: A secondary analysis of the monitoring the future data set. American Journal of Public Health, 87, 760-764.
- Curran, T., Blizzard, J., Spears, W., Seigler, R., Eisenheart, E., Yancey, T. (2014, February).
 Perceived personality of individuals in active addiction or recovery. Poster session
 presented at the meeting of Society of Personality and Social Psychology, Austin, Texas.

- Dagan, D., & Teles, S. M. (2014). Locked in? Conservative reform and the future of mass incarceration. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 651, 266-276.
- Drug Abuse Policy Office (1982). Federal strategy for prevention of drug abuse and drug trafficking. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Drug Abuse Policy Office (1984). National strategy for prevention of drug abuse and drug trafficking. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Ensuring People with Convictions Have a Fair Chance to Work National Employment Law Project (n.d.). Retrieved April 20, 2015, from http://www.nelp.org/campaign/ensuring-fair-chance-to-work/
- Esses, V. M., Haddock, G., & Zanna, M. P. (1993). Values, stereotypes, and emotions as determinants of intergroup attitudes. In D. M. Mackie, D. L. Hamilton, D. M. Mackie, D. L. Hamilton (Eds.). *Affect, cognition, and stereotyping: Interactive processes in group perception* (pp. 137-166). San Diego, CA, US: Academic Press.
- Freudenburg, W. R. (1986). The density of acquaintanceship: An overlooked variable in community research?. *American Journal of Sociology*, 92, 27-63. doi:10.1086/228462
- Ghelfi, L., & McGranahan, D. (2004). One in five rural counties depends on farming. *Amber Waves*, 2, 11.
- Gibbs, R., Cromartie, J., & Kusmin, L. (2004). Low-skill jobs: A shrinking share of the rural economy. *Amber Waves: The Economics of Food, Farming, Natural Resources, and Rural America*, 2, 38-44.

Goffman, E. (1963). Stigma. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

- Gottfredson, L. S. (1997). Foreword to "Intelligence and Social Policy." Intelligence, 24, 1-12.
- Gottfredson, L. S. (2004). Schools and the g factor. Wilson Quarterly, 28, 35-45.
- Grasmick, H. G., Cochran, J. K., Bursik Jr, R. J., & Kimpel, M. L. (1993). Religion, punitive justice, and support for the death penalty. *Justice Quarterly*, *10*, 289-314.
- Hayes, S. C., Bissett, R., Roget, N., Padilla, M., Kohlenberg, B. S., Fisher, G., & ... Niccolls, R. (2004). The impact of acceptance and commitment training and multicultural training on the stigmatizing attitudes and professional burnout of substance abuse counselors. *Behavior Therapy*, *35*, 821-835.
- Hayward, P., & Bright, J. A. (1997). Stigma and mental illness: A review and critique. *Journal of Mental Health*, 6, 345–354. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09638239718671.
- Herek, G. M. (2002). Heterosexuals' attitudes toward bisexual men and women in the United States. *Journal of Sex Research*, *39*, 264-274.
- Heijnders, M., & Van Der Meij, S. (2006). The fight against stigma: An overview of stigmareduction strategies and interventions. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, *11*, 353-363.
- Hirschfield, P. J., & Piquero, A. R. (2010). Normalization and legitimation: Modeling stigmatizing attitudes toward ex-offenders. *Criminology: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 48, 27-55. doi:10.1111/j.1745-9125.2010.00179.x
- Holzer, H. J., Raphael, S., & Stoll, M. A. (2002). Will employers hire ex-offenders? Employer checks, background checks, and their determinants. *Institute for Research on Poverty*.
 [Online]. Available: http://www.irp.wisc.edu/publications/dps/pdfs/dp124302.pdf.

- Homant, R. J., & Kennedy, D. B. (1982). Attitudes towards ex-offenders: A comparison of social stigmas. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *10*, 383–391.
- Humphreys, K., & Rappaport, J. (1993). From the community mental health movement to the war on drugs: A study in the definition of social problems. *American Psychologist*, 48, 892-901. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.48.8.892
- Hurtz, G. M., & Donovan, J. J. (2000). Personality and job-performance: The big five revisited. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85, 869-79.
- Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Crossing the Quality Chasm (2006). Adaptation to mental health and addictive disorders. Improving the quality of health care for mental and substance-use conditions: Quality chasm series. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK19830/
- John, O. P., Donahue, E. M., & Kentle, R. L. (1991). *The big five inventory*. Berkeley CA: University of California, Berkeley, Institute of Personality and Social Research.
- John, O. P., Naumann, L. P., & Soto, C. J. (2008). Paradigm shift to the integrative Big Five trait taxonomy. *Handbook of Personality: Theory and Research*, 114-158.
- Johnson, M. K., Rowatt, W. C., & Petrini, L. (2011). A new trait on the market: Honesty– humility as a unique predictor of job performance ratings. *Personality And Individual Differences*, 50, 857-862. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2011.01.011
- Kassenboehmer, S. C., & Haisken-DeNew, J. P. (2009). You're fired! The causal negative effect of entry unemployment on life satisfaction. *Economic Journal*, *119*, 448–462.

- Kendler, K. S., Gardner, C. O., & Prescott, C. A. (1997). Religion, psychopathology, and substance use and abuse: A multimeasure, genetic-epidemiologic study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 154, 322–329.
- Klin, A., & Lemish, D. (2008). Mental disorders stigma in the media: Review of studies on production, content, and influences. *Journal of Health Communication*, *13*, 434-449.
- Koenig, H. G., & Larson, D. B. (2001). Religion and mental health: Evidence for an association. *International Review of Psychiatry*, *13*, 67-78. doi:10.1080/09540260120037290
- Kosterman, R., Hawkins, J. D., Abbott, R. D., Hill, K. G., Herrenkohl, T. I., & Catalano, R. F.
 (2005). Measures of positive adult behavior and their relationship to crime and substance use. *Prevention Science*, *6*, 21-33. doi:10.1007/s11121-005-1250-0
- Kotov, R., Gamez, W., Schmidt, F., & Watson, D. (2010). Linking 'big' personality traits to anxiety, depressive, and substance use disorders: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 136, 768-821. doi:10.1037/a0020327
- Langworthy, R. H., & Whitehead, J. T. (1986). Liberalism and fear as explanations of punitiveness. *Criminology*, 24, 575–591.
- Lee, R. D., & Rasinski, K. A. (2006). Five grams of coke: Racism, moralism and White public opinion on sanctions for first time possession. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 17, 183-191. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2006.02.001
- Levine, J. P. (1983). Jury toughness: The impact of conservatism on criminal court verdicts. *Crime & Delinquency*, 29, 71-87. doi:10.1177/001112878302900103

- Lewis, S. H. (2003). *Unspoken crimes: Sexual assault in rural America*. Enola, PA: National Sexual Violence Resource Center.
- Link, B. G. (1987). Understanding labeling effects in the area of mental disorders: An assessment of the effects of expectations of rejection. *American Sociological Review*, 96-112.
- Link, B. G., Cullen, F. T., Frank, J., & Wozniak, J. F. (1987). The social rejection of former mental patients: Understanding why labels matter. *American Journal of Sociology*, 92, 1461–1500
- Link, B. G., & Phelan, J. C. (2001). Conceptualizing stigma. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 72, 363–385. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.363.
- Link, B. G., Phelan, J. C., Bresnahan, M., Stueve, A., & Pescosolido, B. (1999). Public conceptions of mental illness: Labels, causes, dangerousness, and social distance. *American Journal of Public Health*, 89, 1328-1333.
- Link, B. G., Struening, E. L., Neese-Todd, S., Asmussen, S., & Phelan, J. C. (2002). On describing and seeking to change the experience of stigma. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Skills*, 6, 201-231. doi:10.1080/10973430208408433
- Livingston, J. D., Milne, T., Fang, M. L., & Amari, E. (2012). The effectiveness of interventions for reducing stigma related to substance use disorders: A systematic review. *Addiction*, 107, 39-50. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03601.x

- Luoma, J. B., O'Hair, A. K., Kohlenberg, B. S., Hayes, S. C., & Fletcher, L. (2010). The development and psychometric properties of a new measure of perceived stigma toward substance users. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 45, 47-57.
- Mackey-Kallis, S., & Hahn, D. F. (1991). Questions of public will and private action: The power of the negative in the Reagans' "Just Say No" morality campaign. *Communication Quarterly*, 39, 1-17.
- Mathew, R. J., Georgi, J., Wilson, W. H., & Mathew, V. G. (1996). A retrospective study of the concept of spirituality as understood by recovering individuals. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 13, 67–73.
- McDonald, T. W., Curtis-Schaeffer, A. K., Theiler, A. A., & Howard, E. M. (2014). Providers' perceptions of prevalent mental and behavioral health problems: Differences and similarities across urban, rural, and frontier areas. *Journal of Rural Mental Health*, 38, 36-49. doi:10.1037/rmh0000009
- McGinty, E. E., Goldman, H. H., Pescosolido, B., & Barry, C. L. (2015). Portraying mental illness and drug addiction as treatable health conditions: Effects of a randomized experiment on stigma and discrimination. *Social Science & Medicine*, *126*, 73-85. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.12.010
- McKee-Ryan, F. M., Song, Z. L., Wanberg, C. R., & Kinicki, A. J. (2005). Psychological and physical well-being during unemployment: A meta-analytic study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90, 53–76.
- McLatchie, L. R., & Draguns, J. G. (1984). Mental health concepts of Evangelical Protestants. Journal of Psychology, 118, 147-159.

Mead, G. H. (1934). *Mind, self, and society*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

- Meltzer, E. C., Suppes, A., Burns, S., Shuman, A., Orfanos, A., Sturiano, C. V., & ... Fins, J. J. (2013). Stigmatization of substance use disorders among internal medicine residents. *Substance Abuse*, *34*, 356-362. doi:10.1080/08897077.2013.815143
- Mumola, C. J., & Karberg, J. C. (2006). Drug use and dependence, state and federal prisoners,
 2004. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office. doi:10.1037/e560272006-001
- Murray, J. D., & Keller, P. A. (1991). Psychology and rural America: Current status and future directions. *American Psychologist*, 46, 220-231. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.46.3.220
- Napier, J. L., & Jost, J. T. (2008). Why are conservatives happier than liberals?. *Psychological Science*, *19*, 565-572. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02124.x
- National Employment Law Office (2015). "Ban the Box" is a fair chance for workers with records, Fact Sheet. Retrieved from http://www.nelp.org/content/uploads/NELP-Fair-Chance-Factsheet-0914.pdf.
- Office of National Drug Control Strategy (1989). *National drug control strategy*. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Office of National Drug Control Strategy (1990). *National drug control strategy*. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Overton, S. L., & Medina, S. L. (2008). The stigma of mental illness. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 86, 143–151. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2008.tb00491.x
- Pager, D. (2003). The mark of a criminal record. American Journal of Sociology, 108, 937-975.

- Pager, D., Western, B., & Sugie, N. (2009). Sequencing disadvantage: Barriers to employment facing young Black and White men with criminal records. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 623, 195-213. doi:10.1177/0002716208330793
- Penn, D. L., & Martin, J. (1998). The stigma of severe mental illness: Some potential solutions for a recalcitrant problem. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 69, 235-247.
- Penn, D. L., Ritchie, M., Francis, J., Combs, D., & Martin, J. (2002). Social perception in schizophrenia: The role of context. *Psychiatry Research*, 109, 149-159.
- Perlick, D. A., Rosenheck, R. A., Clarkin, J. F., Sirey, J., Salahi, J., Struening, E. L., & Link, B.
 G. (2001). Stigma as a barrier to recovery: Adverse effects of perceived stigma on social adaptation of persons diagnosed with bipolar affective disorder. *Psychiatric Services*, 52, 1627-1632. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.52.12.1627
- Plomin, R., & Rende, R. (1991). Human behavioral genetics. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 42, 161-190.
- Radcliffe P., & Stevens A. (2008). Are drug treatment services only for 'thieving junkie scumbags'? Drug users and the management of stigmatised identities. *Social Sciences & Medicine*, 67, 1065–1073.

Rasinski, K., Woll, P., & Cooke, A. (2005). Stigma and substance use disorders. In P. W.
Corrigan (Ed.), On the stigma of mental illness: Practical strategies for research and social change (pp. 219–236). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. doi: 10.1037/10887-010

Ree, M. J., Earles, J. A., & Teachout, M. S. (1994). Predicting job performance: Not much more than g. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79, 518-524.

Rescher, N. (2015). The case for cautious conservatism. Independent Review, 19, 435-442.

- Rhodes, J. E., & Jason, L. A. (1988). *Preventing substance abuse among children and adolescents*. New York: Pergammon Press.
- Robertson, E. B. (1997). Introduction: Intervention and services. *Rural Substance Abuse: State of Knowledge and Issues*, *168*, 246-249.

Rodriguez, M. N., (2015) Ban the Box. Retrieved from

https://www.nelp.org/content/uploads/Ban-the-Box-Fair-Chance-State-and-Local-Guide.pdf

- Room R. (2005) Stigma, social inequality and alcohol and drug use. *Drug Alcohol Review*, 24, 143–155.
- Rosenfield, S. (1997). Labeling mental illness: The effects of received services and perceived stigma on life satisfaction. *American Sociological Review*, 62, 660-672.
 doi:10.2307/2657432
- Rüsch, N., Zlati, A., Black, G., & Thornicroft, G. (2014). Does the stigma of mental illness contribute to suicidality?. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 205, 257-259. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.114.145755

Schmitt, J., & Warner, K. (2011). Ex-offenders and the labor market. Working USA, 14, 87-109.

- Schomerus, G., Lucht, M., Holzinger, A., Matschinger, H., Carta, M. G., & Angermeyer, M. C. (2011). The stigma of alcohol dependence compared with other mental disorders: A review of population studies. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, 46, 105-112.
- Stavrova, O., Schlösser, T., & Baumert, A. (2014). Life satisfaction and job-seeking behavior of the unemployed: The effect of individual differences in justice sensitivity. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 63, 643-670. doi:10.1111/apps.12009
- Steele, C. M. (1997). A threat in the air: How stereotypes shape intellectual identity and performance. *American Psychologist*, *52*, 613-629.
- Stevens, E., Jason, L. A., Ram, D., & Light, J. (2015). Investigating social support and network relationships in substance use disorder recovery. *Substance Abuse*, *36*, 396-399. doi:10.1080/08897077.2014.965870
- Stuart, H. (2008). Fighting the stigma caused by mental disorders: Past perspectives, present activities, and future directions. *World Psychiatry*, *7*, 185-188.
- Stubbs, A. (2014). Reducing mental illness stigma in health care students and professionals: A review of the literature. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 22, 579-584. doi:10.1177/1039856214556324
- Swanson, S. J., Langfitt-Reese, S., & Bond, G. R. (2012). Employer attitudes about criminal histories. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, *35*, 385-390. doi:10.1037/h0094498

Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). Using multivariate statistics. Boston: Pearson/Allyn & Bacon.

- Taylor, S. M., & Dear, M. J. (1981). Scaling community attitudes toward the mentally ill. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 7, 225-240.
- Tews, M. J., Stafford, K., & Tracey, J. B. (2011). What matters most? The perceived importance of ability and personality for hiring decisions. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 52, 94-101. doi:10.1177/1938965510363377
- Thornicroft, G., Mehta, N., Brohan, E., Kassam, A. (2010). Stigma and discrimination. In: Morgan, C., Bhugra, D. (Eds.), *Principles of social psychiatry*. Wiley-Blackwell, Chichester.
- Torrey, F. E., Kennard, A. D., Eslinger, D., Lamb, R., & Pavle, J. (2010). More mentally ill persons are in jails and prisons than hospitals: A survey of the states. Retrieved from http://treatmentadvocacycenter.org/storage/documents/final_jails_v_hospitals_study.pdf
- Travis, J., Solomon, A. L., & Waul, M. (2001). From prison to home: The dimensions and consequences of prisoner reentry. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office. doi:10.1037/e720982011-001
- Turney, K., Lee, H., & Comfort, M. (2013). Discrimination and psychological distress among recently released male prisoners. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 7, 482-493. doi:10.1177/1557988313484056
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics U.S. Department of Labor March 2015 http://www.bls.gov/bls/unemployment.htm

- United States Department of Justice (2013). Federal Bureau of Investigation: Crime in the United States 2012, retrieved from http://www.fbi.gov/about-us/cjis/ucr/crime-in-the-u.s/2012/crime-in-the-u.s.-2012/persons-arrested/persons-arrested
- Van Boekel, L. C., Brouwers, E. M., Van Weeghel, J., & Garretsen, H. L. (2013). Stigma among health professionals towards patients with substance use disorders and its consequences for healthcare delivery: Systematic review. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *131*, 23-35. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.02.018
- Van Olphen, J., Eliason, M. J., Freudenberg, N., & Barnes, M. (2009). Nowhere to go: How stigma limits the options of female drug users after release from jail. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy, 4*, 1-10. doi:10.1186/1747-597X
- Weiner, B. W. (1995). Judgments of responsibility: A foundation for a theory of social conduct.New York: Guilford Press.
- White, W. L. (1998). *Slaying the dragon: The history of addiction treatment and recovery in America*. Bloomington, IL: Lighthouse Institute.
- Whitener, L. A., & McGranahan, D. A. (2003). Rural America-opportunities and challenges. *Amber Waves*, *1*, 15-21.
- Whitley, R., & Campbell, R. D. (2014). Stigma, agency and recovery amongst people with severe mental illness. *Social Science & Medicine*, 107, 1-8. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.02.010
- Williams, J. R. (1976). Effects of labeling the "drug-abuser:" An inquiry. *NIDA Research Monographs*, 6. Bethesda, MD: National Institute on Drug Abuse.

- Wodahl, E. J. (2006). The challenges of prisoner reentry from a rural perspective. *Western Criminology Review*, 7, 32-47.
- Wright, E. R., Gronfein, W. P., & Owens, T. J. (2000). Deinstitutionalization, social rejection, and the self-esteem of former mental patients. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 41, 68-90. doi:10.2307/2676361

Appendix A

Sample Job Description

Manager Job Responsibilities:

Accomplishes department objectives by managing staff; planning and evaluating department activities.

Manager Job Duties:

- Maintains staff by recruiting, selecting, orienting, and training employees; maintaining a safe, secure, and legal work environment; developing personal growth opportunities.
- Accomplishes staff results by communicating job expectations; planning, monitoring, and appraising job results; coaching, counseling, and disciplining employees; developing, coordinating, and enforcing systems, policies, procedures, and productivity standards.
- Establishes strategic goals by gathering pertinent business, financial, service, and operations information; identifying and evaluating trends and options; choosing a course of action; defining objectives; evaluating outcomes.
- Accomplishes financial objectives by forecasting requirements; preparing an annual budget; scheduling expenditures; analyzing variances; initiating corrective actions.
- Maintains quality service by enforcing quality and customer service standards; analyzing and resolving quality and customer service problems; identifying trends; recommending system improvements.
- Maintains professional and technical knowledge by attending educational workshops; reviewing professional publications; establishing personal networks; benchmarking stateof-the-art practices; participating in professional societies.
- Contributes to team effort by accomplishing related results as needed.

Manager Skills and Qualifications:

Performance Management, Project Management, Coaching, Supervision, Quality Management,

Results Driven, Developing Budgets, Developing Standards, Foster Teamwork, Handles

Pressure, Giving Feedback

APPENDIX B

PARTICIPANT QUESTIONNAIRE

- 1. Based upon the information in the application, would you be willing to grant this applicant an interview for employment? Yes / No
- 2. Upon which section of the application was your decision primarily based?
- 3. Please rate your confidence in your decision

Not at all confident/Not confident /Less confident /Neutral/ More confident /Very confident /Completely Confident

	4.	Please rate	ate your likelihood of granting an interview based upon the application -IIII					
I		I	[I	I	I	II	

Not at all likely	Not likely	Less likely	Neutral	More likely	Very likely	Extremely likely
-------------------	------------	-------------	---------	-------------	-------------	------------------

Appendix C

Job Application (No Legal Charge)

An Equal Opportunity Employer

Company is an equal opportunity employer. This application will not be used for limiting or excluding any applicant from consideration for employment on a basis prohibited by local, state, or federal law. Applicants requiring reasonable accommodation in the application and/or interview process should notify a representative of the organization.

Please print and fill out all sections

Applicant Information

Applicant Name John Smith

How were you referred to Company? <u>Job Posting</u>

Employment Positions

Position(s) applying for: <u>Manager</u>

What days and hours are you available for work? <u>Any time, 40+ hr. weekly</u>

Can you work on the weekends? [X] Y or [] N

Can you work evenings? [X] Y or [] N

Are you available to work overtime? [X] Y or [] N

Personal Information:

If hired, would you have transportation to/from work? [X] Y or [] N

If hired, are you willing to submit to and pass a controlled substance test? [X] Y or [] N

Are you able to perform the essential functions of the job for which you are applying, either with / without reasonable accommodation? [X] Y or [] N

If no, describe the functions that cannot be performed

Have you ever been convicted of a criminal offense (felony or misdemeanor)? [] Y or [X] N

If yes, please describe the crime - state nature of the crime(s).

(Note: No applicant will be denied employment solely on the grounds of conviction of a criminal offense. The date of the offense, the nature of the offense, including any significant details that affect the description of the event, and the surrounding circumstances and the relevance of the offense to the position(s) applied for may, however, be considered.)

Education, Training and Experience

High School:

School name: <u>Monroe High School</u>

Number of years completed: <u>4</u>

Did you graduate? [X] Y or [] N

Degree / diploma earned: <u>College Prep</u>

College / University:

School name: <u>Delvin State University</u>

Number of years completed: <u>4</u>

Did you graduate? [X] Y or [] N

Degree / diploma earned: <u>Business</u>

Employment History

Are you currently employed? [X] Y or [] N

If you are currently employed, may we contact your current employer? [X] Y or [] N

Below, please describe past and present employment positions.

Name of Employer: <u>Target</u>

Business Type: <u>Retail</u>

Length of Employment (Include Dates): <u>1/2011-Present</u>

Position: <u>Assistant Manager</u>

May we contact this employer for references? [X] Y or [] N

Name of Employer: <u>Applebee's</u>

Business Type: <u>Restaurant</u>

Length of Employment (Include Dates): <u>8/2009 – 1/2011</u>

Position: Server/Assistant Manager_____

May we contact this employer for references? [X] Y or [] N

Name of Employer: <u>Publix</u>

Business Type: <u>Supermarket</u>

Length of Employment (Include Dates): <u>11/2006 – 8/2009</u>

Position: <u>Cashier</u>

May we contact this employer for references? [X] Y or [] N

Please Read and Initial Each Paragraph, then Sign Below

I certify that I have not purposely withheld any information that might adversely affect my chances for hiring. I attest to the fact that the answers given by me are true & correct to the best of my knowledge and ability. I understand that any omission (including any misstatement) of material fact on this application or on any document used to secure can be grounds for rejection of application or, if I am employed by this company, terms for my immediate expulsion from the company.

I permit the company to examine my references, record of employment, education record, and any other information I have provided. I authorize the references I have listed to disclose any information related to my work record and my professional experiences with them, without giving me prior notice of such disclosure. In addition, I release the company, my former employers & all other persons, corporations, partnerships & associations from any & all claims, demands or liabilities arising out of or in any way related to such examination or revelation.

Applicant's Signature: <u>John Smith</u>

Appendix D

Job Application (Legal Charge)

An Equal Opportunity Employer

Company is an equal opportunity employer. This application will not be used for limiting or excluding any applicant from consideration for employment on a basis prohibited by local, state, or federal law. Applicants requiring reasonable accommodation in the application and/or interview process should notify a representative of the organization.

Please print and fill out all sections

Applicant Information

Applicant Name John Smith

How were you referred to Company? ______Job Posting______

Employment Positions

Position(s) applying for: <u>Manager</u>

What days and hours are you available for work? <u>Any time, 40+ hr. weekly</u>

Can you work on the weekends? [X] Y or [] N

Can you work evenings? [X] Y or [] N

Are you available to work overtime? [X] Y or [] N

Personal Information:

If hired, would you have transportation to/from work? [X] Y or [] N

If hired, are you willing to submit to and pass a controlled substance test? [X] Y or [] N

Are you able to perform the essential functions of the job for which you are applying, either with / without reasonable accommodation? [X] Y or [] N

If no, describe the functions that cannot be performed

Have you ever been convicted of a criminal offense (felony or misdemeanor)? [X] Y or [] N

If yes, please describe the crime - state nature of the crime(s).<u>Possession of a controlled</u> substance_____

(Note: No applicant will be denied employment solely on the grounds of conviction of a criminal offense. The date of the offense, the nature of the offense, including any significant details that affect the description of the event, and the surrounding circumstances and the relevance of the offense to the position(s) applied for may, however, be considered.)

Education, Training and Experience

High School:

School name: <u>Monroe High School</u>

Number of years completed: <u>4</u>

Did you graduate? [X] Y or [] N

Degree / diploma earned: <u>College Prep</u>

College / University:

School name: <u>Delvin State University</u>

Number of years completed: <u>4</u>

Did you graduate? [X] Y or [] N

Degree / diploma earned: <u>Business</u>

Employment History

Are you currently employed? [X] Y or [] N

If you are currently employed, may we contact your current employer? [X] Y or [] N

Below, please describe past and present employment positions.

Name of Employer: <u>Target</u>

Business Type: <u>Retail</u>

Length of Employment (Include Dates): <u>1/2011-Present</u>

Position: <u>Assistant Manager</u>

May we contact this employer for references? [X] Y or [] N

Name of Employer: <u>Applebee's</u>

Business Type: <u>Restaurant</u>

Length of Employment (Include Dates): <u>8/2009 – 1/2011</u>

Position: Server/Assistant Manager_

May we contact this employer for references? [X] Y or [] N

Name of Employer: <u>Publix</u>

Business Type: <u>Supermarket</u>

Length of Employment (Include Dates): <u>11/2006 – 8/2009</u>

Position: Cashier

May we contact this employer for references? [X] Y or [] N

Please Read and Initial Each Paragraph, then Sign Below

I certify that I have not purposely withheld any information that might adversely affect my chances for hiring. I attest to the fact that the answers given by me are true & correct to the best of my knowledge and ability. I understand that any omission (including any misstatement) of material fact on this application or on any document used to secure can be grounds for rejection of application or, if I am employed by this company, terms for my immediate expulsion from the company.

I permit the company to examine my references, record of employment, education record, and any other information I have provided. I authorize the references I have listed to disclose any information related to my work record and my professional experiences with them, without giving me prior notice of such disclosure. In addition, I release the company, my former employers & all other persons, corporations, partnerships & associations from any & all claims, demands or liabilities arising out of or in any way related to such examination or revelation. Applicant's Signature: <u>John Smith</u>

Appendix E

Job Application (Will Discuss)

An Equal Opportunity Employer

Company is an equal opportunity employer. This application will not be used for limiting or excluding any applicant from consideration for employment on a basis prohibited by local, state, or federal law. Applicants requiring reasonable accommodation in the application and/or interview process should notify a representative of the organization.

Please print and fill out all sections

Applicant Information

Applicant Name John Smith

How were you referred to Company? ______Job Posting______

Employment Positions

Position(s) applying for: <u>Manager</u>

What days and hours are you available for work? <u>Any time, 40+ hr. weekly</u>

Can you work on the weekends? [X] Y or [] N

Can you work evenings? [X] Y or [] N

Are you available to work overtime? [X] Y or [] N

Personal Information:

If hired, would you have transportation to/from work? [X] Y or [] N

If hired, are you willing to submit to and pass a controlled substance test? [X] Y or [] N

Are you able to perform the essential functions of the job for which you are applying, either with / without reasonable accommodation? [X] Y or [] N

If no, describe the functions that cannot be performed

Have you ever been convicted of a criminal offense (felony or misdemeanor)? [X] Y or [] N

If yes, please describe the crime - state nature of the crime(s). <u>Will discuss</u>

(Note: No applicant will be denied employment solely on the grounds of conviction of a criminal offense. The date of the offense, the nature of the offense, including any significant details that affect the description of the event, and the surrounding circumstances and the relevance of the offense to the position(s) applied for may, however, be considered.)

Education, Training and Experience

High School:

School name: <u>Monroe High School</u>

Number of years completed: <u>4</u>

Did you graduate? [X] Y or [] N

Degree / diploma earned: <u>College Prep</u>

College / University:

School name: <u>Delvin State University</u>

Number of years completed: <u>4</u>

Did you graduate? [X] Y or [] N

Degree / diploma earned: _Business

Employment History

Are you currently employed? [X] Y or [] N

If you are currently employed, may we contact your current employer? [X] Y or [] N

Below, please describe past and present employment positions.

Name of Employer: <u>Target</u>

Business Type: <u>Retail</u>

Length of Employment (Include Dates): <u>1/2011-Present</u>

Position: _Assistant Manager

May we contact this employer for references? [X] Y or [] N

Name of Employer: <u>Applebee's</u>

Business Type: <u>Restaurant</u>

Length of Employment (Include Dates): <u>8/2009 – 1/2011</u>

Position: Server/Assistant Manager_____

May we contact this employer for references? [X] Y or [] N

Name of Employer: <u>Publix</u>

Business Type: <u>Supermarket</u>

Length of Employment (Include Dates): <u>11/2006 – 8/2009</u>

Position: <u>Cashier</u>

May we contact this employer for references? [X] Y or [] N

Please Read and Initial Each Paragraph, then Sign Below

I certify that I have not purposely withheld any information that might adversely affect my chances for hiring. I attest to the fact that the answers given by me are true & correct to the best of my knowledge and ability. I understand that any omission (including any misstatement) of material fact on this application or on any document used to secure can be grounds for rejection of application or, if I am employed by this company, terms for my immediate expulsion from the company.

I permit the company to examine my references, record of employment, education record, and any other information I have provided. I authorize the references I have listed to disclose any information related to my work record and my professional experiences with them, without giving me prior notice of such disclosure. In addition, I release the company, my former employers & all other persons, corporations, partnerships & associations from any & all claims, demands or liabilities arising out of or in any way related to such examination or revelation.

Appendix F

Demographic Questionnaire

- 1. What is your age?
- 2. What is your nation of origin?
- 3. What is your ethnicity, or ethnicities (i.e., African American, Asian, Hispanic, Caucasian, etc.)?
- 4. What is your gender?
- 5. What is your current year in school?
- 6. What is your current major?
- 7. What is the zip code of your home town (i.e., where you went to high school)?

Measure	1	2	3	4
1. CASA	_			
2. RRF	.17*	_		
3. PCS	.20*	.34*	_	
4. Rural	.03	05	.05	_
Μ	132.61	61.40	4.30	.02
SD	16.72	23.11	1.62	.41
SE	.78	1.08	.08	.02

Summary of Intercorrelations, Means, Standard Deviations, and Standard Error for the Scores on the CASA, RRF, PCS, and Rural Area

Note. Intercorrelations for study participants (n = 458). For scales 1-3 higher scores indicate higher levels of substance use stigma, religious fundamentalism, and political conservativism respectively. Scale 4 is measured as 1 = Rural, 2 = Non-Rural. CASA = Community Attitudes towards Substance Abusers scale; RRF = Revised Religious Fundamentalism Scale; PCS = Political Conservatism Scale; Rural = Rural or Urban area; M = Mean; SD = standard deviation; SE = standard error. * p < .01 (two-tailed)

Decision to Grant	Application Condition					
Interview	No Legal History	Listed Legal Charge	Will Discuss			
Yes	152 (98.7%) ^a	141 (93.4%) ^{a,b}	138 (90.2%) ^b			
No	2 (1.3%) ^a	10 (6.6%) ^{a,b}	15 (9.8%) ^b			

Results of Chi-square Test of Homogeneity for Decision to Grant Interview by Application Condition

Note. $x^2 = 10.22$, df = 2, p < .01 (two-tailed). Scores with different superscripts significantly differ at the .05 level

Rural Area	Decision to Grant Interview				
	Yes	No			
Rural	220 (93.2%)	16 (6.8%)			
Urban	50 (87.7%)	7 (12.3%)*			

Chi-square Test of Association for Decision to Grant Interview by Rural Status

Note. * Expected cell count was less than 5. Fishers Exact Test was not significant, p = .17 (two-tailed)

Binomial Logistic Regression with Application Conditions, CASA, RRF, and PCS predicting the Decision to Say No to an Interview

Predictor	В	SE	Wald	Odds Ratio
Application Condition – No Charge	_ *	-	7.88	-
Application Condition – Listed Charge	1.68*	.79	4.57	5.36
Application Condition – Will Discuss	2.12*	.76	7.71	8.35
CASA	.01	.01	.40	1.01
RRF	004	.01	.15	1.00
PCS	.18	.15	1.47	1.19

Note. CASA = Community Attitudes towards Substance Abusers scale; RRF = Revised Religious Fundamentalism Scale; PCS = Political Conservatism Scale *p < .05